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Cautionary Statement

        This report, including the following discussion and analysis, contains forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995) that are based on our current expectations, estimates and projections about our business and our industry, and reflect management's
beliefs and certain assumptions made by us based upon information available to us as of the date of this report. When used in this report and the information
incorporated herein by reference, the words "expect(s)," "feel(s)," "believe(s)," "intend(s)," "plan(s)," "should," "will," "may," "anticipate(s)," "estimate(s),"
"could," "should," and similar expressions or variations of these words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our anticipated growth, sales, revenue, expenses, profitability, capital needs, backlog, manufacturing
capabilities, the market acceptance of our products, impact of planned acquisitions and dispositions, the Company's strategy for growth, competition, the
impact of the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, the impact of any current or future litigation, the impact of recent accounting
pronouncements, the applications for and acceptance of our products and services, and the status of our facilities and product development. These statements
are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
projected. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements that speak only as of the date hereof. We encourage you to carefully review
and consider the various disclosures made by us which describe certain factors which could affect our business, including in "Risk Factors" set forth in Part I,
Item 1A of this report, before deciding to invest in our company or to maintain or increase your investment. We undertake no obligation to revise or update
publicly any forward-looking statement for any reason, including to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.
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PART I 

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS 

Overview

        Iteris, Inc. (referred to collectively with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, ClearAg, Inc. and Albeck Gerken, Inc. ("AGI"), in this report as "Iteris," the
"Company," "we," "our," and "us") is a provider of essential applied informatics that enable smart transportation. Municipalities, government agencies and
other businesses use our solutions to make roads safer and travel more efficient.

        As a pioneer in intelligent transportation systems ("ITS") technology for more than two decades, our intellectual property, products and software-as-a-
service ("SaaS") offerings offer a comprehensive range of ITS solutions to our customers throughout the U.S. and internationally.

        Prior to the sale of our Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment in May 2020, we combined our intellectual property with enhanced atmospheric, land
surface and agronomic modeling techniques to offer smart content and analytic solutions that provided analytical support to large enterprises in the agriculture
industry, such as seed and crop protection companies, integrated food companies, and agricultural equipment manufacturers and service providers.

        We believe our products, solutions and services improve and safely optimize mobility within our communities, while minimizing environmental impact on
our roadways.

        We continue to make significant investments to leverage our existing technologies and further expand both our advanced detection sensors and
performance analytics systems in the transportation infrastructure market and we are always exploring strategic alternatives intended to optimize the value of
all of our Company.

        Iteris was incorporated in Delaware in 1987 and has operated in its current form since 2004. Our principal executive offices are located at 1700 Carnegie
Avenue, Santa Ana, California 92705, and our telephone number at that location is (949) 270-9400. Our website address is www.iteris.com. The inclusion of
our website address in this report does not include or incorporate by reference into this report any information on, or accessible through, our website. Our
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, together with amendments to these reports, are available on the
"Investor Relations" section of our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

Recent Developments

Public Offering and Acquisition of Albeck Gerken, Inc.

        On June 13, 2019, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 6,182,797 shares of the Company's common stock for net proceeds to the
Company of approximately $26.8 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses payable by the Company. The Company
used approximately $6.2 million of the net proceeds of this offering to pay the cash portion of the purchase price in the acquisition of AGI, a privately-held
professional transportation engineering services firm headquartered in Tampa, Florida (see Note 11, "Acquisition" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the acquisition of AGI), and plans to use the balance of the net proceeds for general
corporate purposes and possibly for other future acquisitions.
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Coronavirus

        In March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly growing outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus,
COVID-19 ("the Pandemic"). The Pandemic is having an unprecedented impact on the U.S. economy as federal, state and local governments react to this
public health crisis, such as travel restrictions, quarantines and "stay-at-home" orders. The uncertainties caused by these events and actions include, but are not
limited to, the adverse effect of the Pandemic on the economy, our vendors, our employees and customers and customer sentiment in general. Continued
impacts of the Pandemic have materially adversely impacted global economic conditions, and could impact our business, results of operations and financial
condition. The extent of the impact of the Pandemic on our business and financial results and volatility of our stock price will depend largely on future
developments, including the duration of the spread of the outbreak, the impact on capital and financial markets and the related impact on the financial
circumstances of our customers, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be reasonably estimated as of this report.

Sale of Segment

        On May 5, 2020, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") entered in on May 2, 2020, the Company sold the assets of its
Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, composed of its ClearAg and ClearPath Weather product lines, to DTN, LLC ("DTN"), an operating company of
TBG AG, a Swiss-based holding company. See Note 14 "Subsequent Events" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of
this report for further details on the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment.

Restructuring

        On April 30, 2020, in connection with the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, the Board of Directors of Iteris, Inc. approved a plan of
restructuring that will involve a charge in the range of approximately $1.7 million to $1.9 million in the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2020, of which
approximately 60% relates to the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment. The restructuring charge includes separation costs for certain
employees who will not transition to DTN and an additional 10 to 15 positions that are being eliminated to right-size the cost structure of the Company. The
restructuring is expected to result in a cash expenditure of approximately $1.7 million to $1.9 million. The annualized savings from the restructuring charges,
excluding those related to the sale, are expected to be in the range of $1.2 million to $1.3 million. The amounts stated above are preliminary and subject to
change as the Company finalizes its assessment of the charges and savings associated with the above items.

Products and Services

        Our reportable segments consist of: Roadway Sensors, Transportation Systems, and, prior to May 5, 2020, Agriculture and Weather Analytics.

        The Roadway Sensors segment provides various advanced detection sensors and systems for traffic intersection management, communication systems and
roadway traffic data collection applications. The Roadway Sensors product line uses advanced image processing technology and other techniques to capture
and analyze sensor data through sophisticated algorithms, enabling vehicle, bicycle and pedestrian detection, as well as the transmission of both video images
and data using various communication technologies. The Transportation Systems segment provides traffic engineering and consulting services, as well as
managed services, performance measurement, traffic analytics, traveler information and commercial vehicle operating software solutions. The Agriculture and
Weather Analytics segment includes ClearPath Weather, our road maintenance applications, and ClearAg, our digital agriculture platform.
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        See Note 12 "Business Segments, Significant Customer and Geographic Information" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in
Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on our reporting segments. See Note 14 "Subsequent Events" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment.

Roadway Sensors

        Our Roadway Sensors products include, among others, Vantage, VantageLive!, Vantage Next®, VantagePegasus, VantageRadius, Vantage Vector,
Velocity, SmartCycle, SmartCycle Bike Indicator, SmartSpan, VersiCam, PedTrax and P-Series products.

• Our Vantage detection systems detect vehicle presence at intersections, as well as vehicle count, speed and other traffic data used in traffic
management systems. Vantage detection systems typically include up to four of our advanced cameras or radar devices. Our Vantage systems
give traffic managers the tools to mitigate roadway congestion by visualizing and analyzing traffic patterns allowing them to modify traffic
signal timing to improve traffic flow. Our various software components complement our Vantage detection systems by providing integrated
platforms to manage and view detection assets remotely over a network connection, as well as mobile application for viewing anywhere. 

• Our Vantage Vector video/radar hybrid product is an all-in-one detection sensor with a wide range of capabilities, including stop bar and
advanced zone detection, which enable advanced safety and adaptive control applications. Vantage Vector includes all of the benefits of Iteris
video detection, including high accuracy, high-availability remote viewing of video images, bicycle and pedestrian detection capability, and
dilemma-zone detection. 

• VantageLive! is a cloud-based platform that allows users to collect, process and analyze advanced intersection data, as well as to view and
understand intersection activity. 

• All of our Vantage systems are available with SmartCycle capability, which can effectively differentiate between bicycles and other vehicles
with a single video detection camera, enabling more efficient signalized intersections, improved traffic throughput and increased bicyclist
safety. Agencies using bicycle timing can now benefit from bicycle-specific virtual detection zones that can be placed anywhere within the
approaching traffic lanes, eliminating the need for separate bicycle-only detection systems. 

• The SmartCycle Bike Indicator, which leverages the SmartCycle bicycle detection algorithm, is a device that mounts onto traffic signals and
illuminates when cyclists waiting at an intersection have been detected, allowing cyclists to avoid interacting with vehicle traffic to push pole-
mounted buttons. 

• Our Vantage systems are also available with the PedTrax capability, which provides bi-directional counting and speed tracking of pedestrians
within the crosswalk to help improve signal timing efficiency, as well as providing an additional data stream to existing vehicle and bicycle
counts. 

• VersiCam, our integrated camera and processor video detection system, is a cost-efficient video detection system for smaller intersections that
require only a few detection points.

        We believe that future growth domestically and internationally, will be dependent in part on the continued adoption of above-ground video detection
technologies, instead of traditional in-pavement loop technology, to manage traffic.

        In select territories, we also sell certain complementary original equipment manufacturer ("OEM") products for the traffic intersection market, which
include, among other things, traffic signal controllers and traffic signal equipment cabinets.
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Transportation Systems

        Our Transportation Systems segment includes engineering and consulting services, performance measurement and traffic analytics solutions, as well as the
development of transportation management and traveler information systems for the ITS industry. Our Transportation Systems services include planning,
design, development and implementation of software and hardware-based ITS systems that integrate sensors, video surveillance, computers and advanced
communications equipment to enable public agencies to monitor, control and direct traffic flow, assist in the quick dispatch of emergency crews, and distribute
real-time information about traffic conditions. Our services include planning, design, implementation, operation and management of surface transportation
infrastructure systems. We perform analysis and study goods movement, commercial vehicle operations, provide travel demand forecasting and systems
engineering, and identify mitigation measures to reduce traffic congestion. The Transportation Systems segment also includes the operations of AGI beginning
July 2, 2019 (see Note 11 "Acquisition" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the
acquisition of AGI).

        The Transportations Systems segment also includes our performance measurement and traffic analytics solutions, Iteris Signal Performance Measures
(SPM), Iteris ClearGuide, and iPeMS—a state-of-the-art analytics software suite that provides prescriptive data insights for multiple applications, including to
help determine current and future traffic patterns, permitting the effective performance analysis and management of traffic infrastructure resources. Our
analytics suite of products utilizes a wide range of data resources and analytical techniques to determine current and future traffic patterns, permitting the
effective performance analysis and management of traffic infrastructure resources. This information can then be analyzed by traffic professionals to measure
how a transportation network is performing and to identify potential areas of improvement. These applications are also capable of providing users with
predictive traffic analytics, and easy-to-use visualization and animation features based on historical traffic conditions.

        This segment also includes our advanced traveler information system solutions and services, as well as our commercial vehicle operations and vehicle
safety compliance platforms, known as "ClearFleet", "CVIEW-Plus," "CheckPoint," "UCRLink" and "inspect." These software applications support state-based
commercial vehicle operations by storing and distributing intrastate and interstate commercial vehicle information for local, state and federal agencies' roadside
and enforcement operations.

        Our Transportation Systems segment is largely dependent upon state and local governmental funding, and to a lesser extent federal governmental funding.
In addition, various other funding mechanisms exist to support transportation infrastructure and related projects, including, but not limited to, bonds, dedicated
sales and gas tax measures, and other alternative funding sources. We believe the overall expansion of our Transportation Systems segment in the future will
continue to be dependent at least in part on the federal and local government's use of funds, and as in the past, our Transportation Systems business has been, at
times, adversely affected by governmental budgetary issues. Delays in the allocation of funds may prolong uncertainty regarding the allotment of transportation
funds in federal, state and local budgets.

Agriculture and Weather Analytics

        The Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, which we sold in May 2020, consisted of ClearPath Weather, a road maintenance application, and
ClearAg, a digital agriculture platform.

        ClearPath Weather is a web-based solution, which includes a suite of tools that apply data assimilation and modeling technologies to assess weather
conditions for customizable route/site weather and pavement forecasting, and render winter road maintenance recommendations for state agencies,
municipalities and commercial companies to improve roadway maintenance decisions.
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        Beginning in late 2013, we undertook the development of "ClearAg solutions" for the digital agricultural market. These new products utilize and expand
the intellectual property, technology base and product suites of our ClearPath Weather solutions. For ClearAg solutions, we developed additional scientific and
agronomic models and forecasts, expanded our computing infrastructure for additional big data acquisition and processing, and designed distributed delivery
vehicles and products.

        The ClearAg solutions combine weather and agronomic data with proprietary land-surface modeling and analytics to solve complex agricultural problems
and to increase the efficiency and sustainability of farmlands. The ClearAg Platform delivers validation tools for ag inputs, irrigation, field readiness, and
harvest solutions giving growers, researchers and other agribusinesses access to a comprehensive database of historical, real-time and forecasted weather, soil
and plant health information, as well as other information on crop growth. Companies use the ClearAg Platform to simulate field conditions and determine how
new products may perform on a crop given certain weather and soil conditions. Growers and agribusinesses leverage the ClearAg Platform to determine the
best times to plant, spray, fertilize, irrigate, and harvest crops.

        ClearAg solutions were offered on a subscription basis, with customers consuming ClearAg through visualization component application programming
interfaces ("APIs"). These APIs facilitate the integration of ClearAg's analytics and insights with the offerings of large enterprise customers in the agriculture
market.

        On May 5, 2020, pursuant to a Purchase Agreement the Company sold the assets of its Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, composed of its
ClearAg and ClearPath Weather product lines, to DTN, an operating company of TBG AG, a Swiss-based holding company. As a result of the sale, we no
longer operate in the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment. See Note 14 "Subsequent Events" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment.

Sales and Marketing

        We currently sell our Roadway Sensors products through both direct and indirect sales channels. In the territories we sell through direct channels, we use a
combination of our own sales personnel and outside sales organizations to sell, oversee installations, and support our products. Our indirect sales channel is
comprised of a network of independent distributors in the U.S. and select international locations, which sell integrated systems and related products to the
traffic management market. In the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2018 ("Fiscal 2018"), we entered into a distribution agreement to expand
our northern European sales coverage in the U.K. and Ireland. Our independent distributors are trained in, and primarily responsible for, sales, installation, set-
up and support of our products, maintain an inventory of demonstration traffic products from various manufacturers, and sell directly to government agencies
and installation contractors. These distributors often have long-term arrangements with local government agencies in their respective territories for the supply
of various products for the construction and renovation of traffic intersections, and are generally well-known suppliers of various high-quality ITS products to
the traffic management market. We periodically hold technical training classes for our distributors and end users, and maintain a full-time staff of customer
support technicians throughout the U.S. to provide technical assistance when needed. When appropriate, we have the ability to modify or make changes to our
distributor network to accommodate the needs of the market and our customer base.

        We market and sell our Transportation Systems services and solutions and, prior to May 2020, our ClearPath Weather services, primarily to government
agencies pursuant to negotiated contracts that involve competitive bidding and specific qualification requirements. Most of our contracts are with federal, state
and local municipal customers, and generally provide for cancellation or renegotiation at the option of the customer upon reasonable notice and fees paid for
modification. We generally use
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selected members of our engineering, science and information technology teams on a regional basis to serve in sales and business development functions. Our
Transportation Systems contracts generally involve long lead times and require extensive specification development, evaluation and price negotiations.

        ClearAg solutions were marketed and sold on a subscription basis, under a SaaS license, to seed and crop protection companies, agriculture equipment
manufacturers, irrigation solution providers, allied providers and other agriculture service providers.

        We have historically had a diverse customer base. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 ("Fiscal 2020"), no individual customer represented greater
than 10% of our total revenues. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 ("Fiscal 2019) and Fiscal 2018, one individual customer represented greater than 10%
of our total revenues. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of our total trade accounts receivable.

Manufacturing and Materials

        We use contract manufacturers to build subassemblies that are used in our Roadway Sensors products. Additionally, we procure certain components for
our Roadway Sensors products from qualified suppliers, both in the U.S. and internationally, and generally use multi-sourcing strategies when technically and
economically feasible to mitigate supply risk. These subassemblies and components are typically delivered to our Santa Ana, California facility where they go
through final assembly and testing prior to shipment to our customers. Our key suppliers include Veris Manufacturing and MoboTrex, Inc. Our manufacturing
activities are conducted in approximately 9,000 square feet of space at our Santa Ana, California facility. Production volume at our subcontractors is based
upon quarterly forecasts that we generally adjust on a monthly basis to control inventory levels. Typically, we do not manufacture any of the hardware used in
the transportation management and traveler information systems that we design and implement. Our production facility maintains a Quality Management
System that is currently certified as conforming to all requirements of the ISO 9001:2015 international standard.

Customer Support and Services

        We provide warranty service and support for our products, as well as follow-up service and support for which we charge separately. Such service revenue
was not a material portion of our total revenues for Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018. We believe customer support is a key competitive factor for our
Company.

        Our ClearAg solutions were primarily sold as annual subscription services with recurring monthly revenue. As an element of these services, we provided
full-time support and customer service for such ClearAg solutions.

Backlog

        Our total backlog of unfulfilled firm orders was approximately $67.2 million at March 31, 2020, which included $53.4 million related to Transportation
Systems, $8.7 million related to Roadway Sensors, and $5.2 million related to Agriculture and Weather Analytics. Typically, we recognize approximately more
than 70% of our Transportation Systems backlog as of the end of a fiscal year in the subsequent fiscal year, and currently expect that trend to continue for the
near future. Substantially all of the backlog for Roadway Sensors at March 31, 2020 is expected to be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending March 31,
2021 ("Fiscal 2021") and only a small portion of the backlog for Agriculture and Weather Analytics was realized prior to its sale in May 2020. At March 31,
2019, we had backlog of approximately $55.4 million, which included $44.5 million related to Transportation Systems, $6.2 million related to Roadway
Sensors and $4.7 million related to Agriculture and Weather
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Analytics. The increase in backlog in the current fiscal year was largely due to increased sales and marketing efforts in our Transportation Systems segment
during the current fiscal year.

        Backlog is an operational measure representing future unearned revenue amounts believed to be firm that are to be earned under our existing agreements
and are not included in deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheets. Backlog does not include announced orders for which definitive contracts have not
been executed. We believe backlog is a useful metric for investors, given its relevance to total orders.

        The timing and realization of our backlog is subject to the inherent uncertainties of doing business with federal, state and local governments, particularly
in view of budgetary constraints, cut-backs and other delays or reallocations of funding that these entities typically face. In addition, pursuant to the customary
terms of our agreements with government contractors and other customers, our customers can generally cancel or reschedule orders with little or no penalties.
Lead times for the release of purchase orders often depend upon the scheduling and forecasting practices of our individual customers, which also can affect the
timing of the conversion of our backlog into revenues. For these reasons, among others, our backlog at a particular date may not be indicative of our future
revenues, in particular for our Roadway Sensors segment.

Product Development

        Our product development activities are mostly conducted at our principal facility in Santa Ana, California, as well as our facilities in Grand Forks, North
Dakota and Oakland, California. Our research and development costs and expenses were approximately $8.6 million for Fiscal 2020, $7.8 million for Fiscal
2019, and $7.9 million for Fiscal 2018. We expect to continue to pursue various product development programs and incur research and development
expenditures, primarily in our Roadway Sensors and Transportation Systems segments in future periods.

        We believe our engineering and product development capabilities are a competitive strength. We strive to continuously develop new products,
technologies, features and functionalities to meet the needs of our ever-changing markets, as well as to enhance, improve upon, and refine our existing product
lines. We plan to continue to invest in the development of our software offerings that include Iteris SPM, iPeMS, Iteris ClearGuide, and Iteris ClearFleet, as
well as our other commercial vehicle operations software products. In addition, we intend to continue to invest in further enhancements and functionality in our
Vantage products family. We believe that developing new and enhanced product offerings across our segments and enhancing, refining and marketing our
existing products are key components for strong organic growth and profitability.

Competition

        Generally, we face significant competition in each of our target markets. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced gross margins and
loss of market share, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

        In the market for our Roadway Sensors detection products, we compete with manufacturers and distributors of other above-ground video camera detection
systems and manufacturers and distributors of other non-intrusive detection devices (e.g., microwave, infrared, radar, ultrasonic and magnetic detectors), as
well as manufacturers and installers of in-pavement inductive loop products, which have historically been, and currently continue to be, the predominant
vehicle detection system in this market. Additionally, products such as Velocity and VantagePegasus compete against various competitors in the travel-time and
data communications markets, respectively.
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        The markets in which our Transportation Systems segment operates is highly fragmented and subject to evolving national and regional quality, operations
and safety standards. Our competitors vary in number, scope and breadth of the products and services they offer. Our competitors in the managed services and
consulting business lines include a mix of local, regional and international engineering services firms. Our competitors in the software business line
(e.g., performance measurement and management, advanced traveler information systems, and our commercial vehicle operations and vehicle safety
compliance platforms) include university affiliated software organizations, venture backed software companies, as well as other multi-disciplinary hardware
and software corporations.

        The markets in which our Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment operated vary from the commercial sector customers for ClearAg solutions to
public sector customers for ClearPath Weather solutions. Our competitors vary in number, scope and breadth of the products and services they offer. In the
public sector, we competed with some of the same transportation engineering, planning and design firms that also compete with our Transportation Systems
segment.

        In general, the markets for the products and services we offer are highly competitive and are characterized by rapidly changing technology and evolving
standards. Many of our current and prospective competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, access to larger customer bases, and
significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing, distribution and marketing resources than we. As a result, they may be able to adapt more quickly to
new or emerging standards or technologies, or to devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their products. It is also possible that new competitors or
alliances among competitors could emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share. We believe that our ability to compete effectively in our target markets
will depend on a number of factors, including the success and timing of our new product development, the compatibility of our products with a broad range of
computing systems, product quality and performance, reliability, functionality, price and service, and technical support. Our failure to provide services and
develop and market products that compete successfully with those of other suppliers and consultants in our target markets would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

        Our ability to compete effectively depends in part on our ability to develop and maintain the proprietary aspects of our technology. Our policy is to obtain
appropriate proprietary rights protection for any potentially significant new technology acquired or developed by us. We currently have a total of 21 issued U.S.
patents, including: (i) 14 relating to our Roadway Sensors technologies, four of which were issued in Fiscal 2020 and (ii) 7 relating to our Transportation
Systems technologies. Prior to the sale of our Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment in May 2020, we had a total of 36 issued U.S. patents relating to our
Agriculture and Weather Analytics technologies. Prior to the sale of our Agriculture and Weather Analytics in May 2020, we had a total of 14 pending patent
applications in the U.S. and 8 total foreign patent applications. The expiration dates of our patents range from 2026 to 2038. We intend to pursue additional
patent protection to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost-effective.

        In addition to patent laws, we rely on copyright and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary rights. We attempt to protect our trade secrets and other
proprietary information through agreements with customers and suppliers, proprietary information agreements with our employees and consultants, and other
similar measures. We do not have any material licenses or trademarks other than those relating to product names. We cannot be certain that we will be
successful in protecting our proprietary rights. While we believe our patents, patent applications, software and other proprietary know-how have value, rapidly
evolving technology makes our future success dependent largely upon our ability to successfully achieve continuing innovation.
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        Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our proprietary rights, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to
defend us against claims of infringement or invalidity by others. An adverse outcome in such litigation or similar proceedings could subject us to significant
liabilities to third parties, require disputed rights to be licensed from others or require us to cease marketing or using certain products, any of which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the cost of addressing any intellectual property litigation
claim, both in legal fees and expenses, as well as from the diversion of management's resources, regardless of whether the claim is valid, could be significant
and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Employees

        As of March 31, 2020, we employed 414 full-time employees and 26 part-time employees, for a total of 440 employees. As a result of the sale of our
Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment in May 2020 and related restructuring activities, we currently have approximately 348 full-time and 26 part-time
employees. None of our employees is represented by a labor union, and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe our relations with our
employees are good.

Government Regulation

        Our manufacturing operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those restricting the discharge of materials into
the environment. We are not involved in any pending or, to our knowledge, threatened governmental proceedings, which would require curtailment of our
operations because of such laws and regulations. We continue to expend funds in connection with our compliance with applicable environmental regulations.
These expenditures have not, however, been significant in the past, and we do not expect any significant expenditure in the near future. Currently, compliance
with foreign laws has not had a material impact on our business; however, as we expand internationally, foreign laws and regulations could have a material
impact on our business in the future.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS 

        Our business is subject to a number of risks, some of which are discussed below. Other risks are presented elsewhere in this report and in the information
incorporated by reference into this report. You should consider the following risks carefully in addition to the other information contained in this report and
our other filings with the SEC, including our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K, before deciding to buy, sell or hold our common stock. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also affect our business operations. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be
seriously harmed. In that event, the market price for our common stock could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment.

         Because we depend on government contracts and subcontracts, we face additional risks related to contracting with federal, state and local
governments, including budgetary issues and fixed price contracts, that could adversely impact our future revenues and profitability.

        A significant portion of our revenues is derived from contracts with governmental agencies, either as a general contractor, sub-contractor or supplier. We
anticipate that revenue from government contracts will continue to remain a significant portion of our revenues. Government business is, in general, subject to
special risks and challenges, including:

• delays in funding and uncertainty regarding the allocation of funds to state and local agencies from the U.S. federal government, delays in the
expenditures from the federal highway bill and
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delays or reductions in other state and local funding dedicated for transportation and ITS projects;

• other government budgetary constraints, cut-backs, delays or reallocation of government funding, including without limitation, changes in the
administration and repeal of government purchasing programs; 

• long purchase cycles or approval processes; 

• competitive bidding and qualification requirements, as well as our ability to replace large contracts once they have been completed; 

• changes in government policies and political agendas; 

• maintenance of relationships with key government entities from whom a substantial portion of our revenue is derived; 

• milestone deliverable requirements and liquidated damage and/or contract termination provisions for failure to meet contract milestone
requirements; 

• performance bond requirements; 

• adverse weather conditions or other natural or medical disasters or developments, such as, the novel coronavirus COVID-19, and evacuations
and flooding due to hurricanes, can result in our inability to perform work in affected areas; and 

• international relations and international conflicts or other military operations that could cause the temporary or permanent diversion of
government funding from transportation or other infrastructure projects.

        Governmental budgets and plans are subject to change without warning. Certain risks of selling to governmental entities include dependence on
appropriations and administrative allocation of funds, changes in governmental procurement legislation and regulations and other policies that may reflect
political developments or agendas, significant changes in contract scheduling, intense competition for government business and termination of purchase
decisions for the convenience of the governmental entity. Substantial delays in purchase decisions by governmental entities, and the current constraints on
government budgets at the federal, state and local level, and the ongoing uncertainty as to the timing and accessibility to government funding could cause our
revenues and income to drop substantially or to fluctuate significantly between fiscal periods.

        In addition, a number of our government contracts are fixed price contracts. As a result, we may not be able to recover any cost overruns we may incur.
These fixed price contracts require us to estimate the total project cost based on preliminary projections of the project's requirements. The financial viability of
any given project depends in large part on our ability to estimate these costs accurately and complete the project on a timely basis. In the event our costs on
these projects exceed the fixed contractual amount, we will be required to bear the excess costs. Such additional costs could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, certain of our government contracts are subject to termination or renegotiation at the convenience of the
government, which could result in a large decline in our revenues in any given period. Our inability to address any of the foregoing concerns or the loss or
renegotiation of any material government contract could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

         We may not be able to achieve profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future.

        We had net losses of approximately $5.6 million in Fiscal 2020, $7.8 million in Fiscal 2019 and $3.5 million in Fiscal 2018, and we cannot assure you that
we will be profitable in the future. Our ability to become profitable in future periods could be impacted by governmental budgetary constraints,
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government and political agendas, economic instability and other items that are not in our control. Furthermore, we rely on operating profits from certain of our
business segments to fund investments in sales and marketing and research and development initiatives. We cannot assure you that our financial performance
will sustain a sufficient level to completely support those investments. Most of our expenses are fixed in advance. As such, we generally are unable to reduce
our expenses significantly in the short-term to compensate for any unexpected delay or decrease in anticipated revenues or increases in planned investments.
We may expect to continue to experience operating losses and net losses in Fiscal 2021 and may continue to do so in the future, which would make it difficult
to fund our operations and achieve our business plan, and could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

         Our profitability could be adversely affected if we are not able to maintain adequate utilization of our Transportation Systems workforce.

        The cost of providing our Transportation Systems engineering and consulting services, including the extent to which we utilize our workforce, affects our
profitability. The rate at which we utilize our workforce is affected by a number of factors, including:

• our ability to transition employees from completed projects to new assignments and to hire and assimilate new employees; 

• our ability to forecast demand for our services and thereby maintain an appropriate headcount in our various regions; 

• the timing of new contract awards, the commencement of work under an awarded contract or the completion of large contracts; 

• availability of funding or other budget issues; 

• our need to devote time and resources to training, business development, professional development and other non-chargeable activities; and 

• our ability to match the skill sets of our employees to the needs of the marketplace.

        An inability to properly and fully utilize our Transportation Systems workforce would reduce our profitability and could have an adverse effect on our
results of operations.

         Our management information systems and databases have been and could in the future be disrupted by data protection breaches, system security
failures, cyber threats or by the failure of, or lack of access to, our internal operations, such as our enterprise resource planning, or ERP, system, or
services provided to our customers. These disruptions could negatively impact our sales, increase our expenses, significantly harm our reputation and/or
adversely affect our stock price.

        Experienced users and computer programmers may be able to penetrate, or "hack", our network security and create system disruptions, cause shutdowns
and compromise or misappropriate our confidential information or that of our employees and third parties. Computer programmers and hackers also may be
able to develop and deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious software programs that attack our internal network, any of our systems, service offerings or
otherwise exploit any security vulnerabilities of our network, systems or service offerings. In addition, sophisticated services, hardware and operating system
software and applications that we procure from third parties may contain defects in design or manufacture, including "bugs" and other problems that could
unexpectedly interfere with the operation of a system. We could incur expenses addressing problems created by cyber or other security problems, bugs, viruses,
worms malicious software programs and security vulnerabilities, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful. We must, and do, take
precautions to secure customer information and prevent unauthorized access to our databases and systems containing
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confidential information. Any data security event, such as a breach, data loss or information security lapses, whether resulting in the compromise of personal
information or the improper use or disclosure of confidential, sensitive or classified information, could result in interruptions, cessation of service(s), claims,
remediation costs, regulatory sanctions against us, loss of current and future contracts, adverse effects to results of operations and financial condition, serious
harm to our reputation and/or adverse effects to our stock price. We operate our ERP system on a SaaS platform, and we use this system for reporting,
planning, sales, audit, inventory control, loss prevention, purchase order management and business intelligence. Accordingly, we depend on this system, and
the third-party provider of this service, for a number of aspects of our operations. If this service provider or this system fails, or if we are unable to continue to
have access to this system on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, operations would be severely disrupted until an equivalent system could be identified,
licensed or developed, and integrated into our operations. This disruption would have a material adverse effect on our business. We carry insurance, including
cyber insurance, commensurate with its size and the nature of its operations, although there is no certainty that such insurance will in all cases be sufficient to
fully reimburse us for all losses incurred in connection with the occurrence of any of these system security risks, data protection breaches, cyber-attacks or
other events.

        In April 2020, certain internal computer systems at our headquarters in Santa Ana were breached by an intruder, which prevented them temporarily from
operating. We immediately took steps to isolate those systems and implemented measures to prevent additional systems from being affected, including taking
systems offline as a precaution. The intrusion did not affect any customer-facing systems. Third party forensic experts were engaged to assist our information
technology team to restore those affected internal systems to operation. We completed our investigation on June 3, 2020 and we have not experienced, nor do
we believe there has been, any material impact to our operating activities nor our controls over financial reporting. To date, we have found no evidence of data
exfiltration or misappropriation.

         If unauthorized access is obtained to our customer's personal and/or proprietary data in connection with our web-based and mobile application
solutions and services, we may suffer various negative impacts, including a loss of customer and market confidence, loss of customer loyalty, and
significant liability to our customers and to individuals or businesses whose information was being stored.

        Protecting data of our customers is critical to our business, and if there is unauthorized access we may incur significant costs or liabilities. In addition, we
are required to comply with government contracting requirements and make investments in our systems to protect that data. If we are unable to do so, our
customers may lose confidence in us, which would harm our sales, and we may incur significant expenses or liabilities.

         The recent coronavirus outbreak could have an adverse effect on our business.

        In March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly growing outbreak of the Pandemic. The Pandemic
is having an unprecedented impact on the U.S. economy as federal, state and local governments react to this public health crisis, such as travel restrictions,
quarantines and "stay-at-home" orders. The uncertainties caused by these events and actions include, but are not limited to, the adverse effect of the Pandemic
on the economy, our vendors, our employees and customers and customer sentiment in general. Continued impacts of the Pandemic have materially adversely
impacted global economic conditions, and have impacted our business, results of operations and financial condition, such as expense reductions, in an effort to
mitigate such impacts. The extent of the impact of the Pandemic on our business and financial results and volatility of our stock price will depend largely on
future developments, including the duration of the spread of the outbreak, the impact on capital and financial markets and the related impact on the
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financial circumstances of our customers, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. This situation is changing rapidly, and additional impacts
may arise that we are not aware of currently.

         Acquisitions of companies or technologies, including our acquisition of AGI, may require us to undertake significant capital infusions and could
result in disruptions of our business and diversion of resources and management attention.

        In July 2019, we completed the acquisition of AGI and we plan to continue to explore acquiring additional complementary businesses, products, services,
and technologies. Acquisitions may require significant capital infusions and, in general, acquisitions also involve a number of special risks, including:

• potential disruption of our ongoing business and the diversion of our resources and management's attention; 

• the failure to retain or integrate key acquired personnel; 

• the challenge of assimilating diverse business cultures, and the difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies and information system of
the acquired companies; 

• increased costs to improve managerial, operational, financial and administrative systems and to eliminate duplicative services; 

• the incurrence of unforeseen obligations or liabilities; 

• potential impairment of relationships with employees or customers as a result of changes in management; and 

• increased interest expense and amortization of acquired intangible assets, as well as unanticipated accounting charges.

        Our competitors are also soliciting potential acquisition candidates, which could both increase the price of any acquisition targets and decrease the number
of attractive companies available for acquisition. Acquisitions may also materially and adversely affect our operating results due to large write-offs, contingent
liabilities, substantial depreciation, deferred compensation charges or intangible asset amortization, or other adverse tax or accounting consequences. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to identify or consummate any additional acquisitions, successfully integrate any acquisitions or realize the benefits and
opportunities anticipated from any acquisition.

         Acquisitions, investments and divestitures could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and other consequences that may adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

        Acquisitions, investments and divestitures are important elements of our overall corporate strategy and use of capital, and these transactions could be
material to our financial condition and results of operations. We expect to continue to evaluate and enter into discussions regarding potential strategic
transactions. Effecting these strategic transactions could create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. We face risks that include, among other
things:

• the strategic benefits and opportunities from any planned or completed acquisition or divestiture by the Company may not be realized or may
take longer to realize than expected; 

• strategic benefits and opportunities related to past and ongoing restructuring actions may not be realized or may take longer to realize than
expected; 

• our ability to realize the expected financial benefits of an acquisition, divestiture or other strategic transaction; 

• cost reductions may not occur as expected;
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• management time and focus may be diverted from operating our business to challenges related to acquisitions and other strategic transactions; 

• cultural challenges may arise associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization, and retention of
employees from the businesses we acquire; and 

• we may fail to successfully further develop the acquired business or technology.

        Our failure to address the risks and other issues in connection with our past or future acquisitions and other strategic transactions could cause us to fail to
realize their anticipated benefits and opportunities, including unanticipated liabilities, increased costs, and harm our business generally.

         We participate in the software development market which may be subject to various technical and commercial challenges.

        We have only been in the business of software development for a few years and have in the past and may in the future experience development and
technical challenges. Our business and results of operations could also be seriously harmed by any significant delays in our software development activities.
Despite testing and quality control, we cannot be certain that errors will not be found in our software after its release. Any faults or errors in our existing
products or in any new products may cause delays in product introduction and shipments, require design modifications, or harm customer relationships or our
reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business and competitive position. In addition, software companies are subject to litigation concerning
intellectual property disputes, which could be costly and distract our management.

         If we do not keep pace with rapid technological changes and evolving industry standards, we will not be able to remain competitive, and the demand
for our products will likely decline.

        Our markets are in general characterized by the following factors:

• rapid technological advances; 

• downward price pressures in our target markets as technologies mature; 

• changes in customer requirements; 

• additional qualification requirements related to new products or components; 

• frequent new product introductions and enhancements; 

• obsolescence of certain parts and components from time to time that may require re-engineering of certain portions of our product; 

• inventory issues related to transition to new or enhanced models; and 

• evolving industry standards and changes in the regulatory environment.

        Our future success will depend upon our ability to anticipate and adapt to changes in technology and industry standards, and to effectively develop,
introduce, market and gain broad acceptance of new products and product enhancements incorporating the latest technological advancements.

         If we are unable to develop and introduce new products and product enhancements in a cost-effective and timely manner, or are unable to achieve
market acceptance of our new products, our operating results would be adversely affected.

        We believe our revenue growth and future operating results will depend on our ability to complete development of new products and enhancements,
introduce these products in a timely, cost-effective manner, achieve broad market acceptance of these products and enhancements, and reduce our
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production costs. During the past few fiscal years, we have introduced, and will continue to introduce this fiscal year, both new and enhanced products across
all segments. We cannot guarantee the success of these products, and we may not be able to introduce any new products or any enhancements to our existing
products on a timely basis, or at all. In addition, the introduction of any new products could adversely affect the sales of certain of our existing products.

        We believe that we must continue to make substantial investments to support ongoing research and development in order to develop new or enhanced
products and software to remain competitive. We need to continue to prepare updates for existing products and develop and introduce new products that
incorporate the latest technological advancements in outdoor image processing hardware, camera technologies, software and analysis in response to evolving
customer requirements. In addition, we are beginning to migrate some of our products to a new platform. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
adequately manage product transition issues. Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected if we do not anticipate or respond adequately to
technological developments or changing customer requirements or if we cannot adequately manage inventory issues typically related to new product transitions
and introductions. We cannot assure you that any such investments in research and development will lead to any corresponding increase in revenue.

         We may need to raise additional capital in the future, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

        We have historically experienced volatility in our earnings and cash flows from operations from year to year. Should the credit markets further tighten or
our business decline, we may need or choose to raise additional capital to fund our operations, to repay indebtedness, pursue acquisitions or expand our
operations. Such additional capital may be raised through bank borrowings, or other debt or equity financings. We cannot assure you that any additional capital
will be available on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, and such additional financing may result in further dilution to our stockholders.

        Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

• market acceptance of our products and product enhancements, and the overall level of sales of our products; 

• our ability to control costs and achieve profitability; 

• the supply of key components for our products; 

• our ability to increase revenue and net income; 

• increased research and development expenses and sales and marketing expenses; 

• our need to respond to technological advancements and our competitors' introductions of new products or technologies; 

• capital improvements to new and existing facilities and enhancements to our infrastructure and systems; 

• any acquisitions of businesses, technologies, product lines, or possible strategic transactions or dispositions; 

• our relationships with customers and suppliers; 

• government budgets, political agendas and other funding issues, including potential delays in government contract awards or commencement of
work for a project; 

• our ability to successfully negotiate credit arrangements with our bank and the state of the financial markets in general; and 

• general economic conditions, including the effects of the economic slowdowns and international conflicts.
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        If our capital requirements are materially different from those currently planned, we may need additional capital sooner than anticipated. If additional
funds are raised through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders will be reduced and such securities
may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to our common stock. Additional equity or debt financing may not be available on favorable terms, on a
timely basis, or at all. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms when needed, we may be unable to continue our operations as
planned, develop or enhance our products, expand our sales and marketing programs, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive
pressures.

         The markets in which we operate are highly competitive with many companies more established than we are.

        We compete with numerous other companies in our target markets including, but not limited to, large, multi-national corporations and many smaller
regional engineering firms.

        We compete with existing, well-established companies and technologies in our Roadway Sensors segment, both domestically and abroad. Only a portion
of the traffic intersection market has adopted advanced above-ground detection technologies, and our future success will depend in part upon gaining broader
market acceptance for such technologies. Certain technological barriers to entry make it difficult for new competitors to enter the market with competing video
or other technologies; however, we are aware of new market entrants from time to time. Increased competition could result in loss of market share, price
reductions and reduced gross margins, any of which could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

        The Transportation Systems market is highly fragmented and is subject to evolving national and regional quality and safety standards. Our competitors
vary in size, number, scope and breadth of the products and services they offer, and include large multi-national engineering firms and smaller local or regional
firms.

        In each of our operating segments, many of our competitors have far greater name recognition and greater financial, technological, marketing and
customer service resources than we do. This may allow our competitors to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer
requirements. It may also allow them to devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their products and services than we can.
Consolidations of end users, distributors and manufacturers in our target markets exacerbate this problem. As a result of the foregoing factors, we may not be
able to compete effectively in our target markets and competitive pressures could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

         Our failure to successfully secure new contracts and renew existing contracts could reduce our revenues and profitability.

        Our business depends on our ability to successfully bid on new contracts and renew existing contracts with private and public sector customers. We
continually bid on new contracts and negotiate contract renewals on expiring contracts. Contract proposals and negotiations are complex and frequently involve
a lengthy bidding and selection process, which are affected by a number of factors, such as market conditions, financing arrangements and required
governmental approvals. As a condition to contract award, customers require us to provide a surety bond or letter of credit to protect the client should we fail to
perform under the terms of the contract. Government entities are also taking more time between contract award and approval to commence work under the
contract, which delays our ability to recognize revenues under the contract. If negative market conditions materialize, or if we fail to secure adequate financing
arrangements or the required governmental approval or fail to meet other required conditions, we may not be able to pursue, obtain or perform particular
projects, which could reduce or eliminate our profitability.
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         We may not be able to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, which could harm our competitive position.

        If we are not able to adequately protect or enforce the proprietary aspects of our technology, competitors may be able to access our proprietary technology
and our business, financial condition and results of operations will likely be seriously harmed. We currently attempt to protect our technology through a
combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, employee and third party nondisclosure agreements and similar means. Despite our efforts,
other parties may attempt to disclose, obtain or use our technologies or systems. Our competitors may also be able to independently develop products that are
substantially equivalent or superior to our products or design around our patents. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary
rights as fully as do the laws of the U.S. As a result, we may not be able to protect our proprietary rights adequately in the U.S. or internationally.

        Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of
others. Litigation may also be necessary to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity by others. We have in the past, and may in the future, be subject
to litigation regarding our intellectual property rights. An adverse outcome in litigation or any similar proceedings could subject us to significant liabilities to
third parties, require us to license disputed rights from others or require us to cease marketing or using certain products or technologies. We may not be able to
obtain any licenses on terms acceptable to us, or at all. We also may have to indemnify certain customers or strategic partners if it is determined that we have
infringed upon or misappropriated another party's intellectual property. Our continued expansion into software development activities may subject us to
increased possibility of litigation. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the cost of
addressing any intellectual property litigation claim, including legal fees and expenses, and the diversion of management's attention and resources, regardless
of whether the claim is valid, could be significant and could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

         We may continue to be subject to traffic-related litigation.

        The traffic industry in general is subject to frequent litigation claims due to the nature of personal injuries that can result from traffic accidents. As a
provider of traffic engineering services, products and solutions, we are, and could from time to time in the future continue to be, subject to litigation for traffic
related accidents, even if our products or services did not cause the particular accident. While we generally carry insurance against these types of claims, some
claims may not be covered by insurance or the damages resulting from such litigation could exceed our insurance coverage limits. In the event that we are
required to pay significant damages as a result of one or more lawsuits that are not covered by insurance or exceed our coverage limits, it could materially harm
our business, financial condition or cash flows. Even defending against unsuccessful claims could cause us to incur significant expenses and result in a
diversion of management's attention.

         We may be unable to attract and retain key personnel, including senior management, which could seriously harm our business.

        Due to the specialized nature of our business, we are highly dependent on the continued service of our executive officers and other key management,
engineering and technical personnel. We believe that our success will depend on the continued employment of a highly qualified and experienced senior
management team to retain existing business and generate new business. The loss of any of our officers, or any of our other executives or key members of
management could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations (e.g., loss of customers or loss of new business opportunities).
Our success will also depend in large part upon our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate qualified engineering and other highly skilled technical
personnel. Particularly in highly
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specialized areas, it has become more difficult to retain employees and meet all of our needs for employees in a timely manner, which may adversely affect our
growth in the current fiscal year and in future years. This situation is exacerbated by pressure from agency customers to contain our costs, while salaries for
highly skilled employees are on the rise. Although we intend to continue to devote significant resources to recruit, train and retain qualified skilled personnel,
we may not be able to attract and retain such employees, which could impair our ability to perform our contractual obligations, meet our customers' needs, win
new business, and adversely affect our future results. Likewise, the future success of our Transportation Systems segment will depend on our ability to hire
additional qualified engineers, planners and technical personnel. Competition for qualified employees, particularly development engineers and software
developers, is intense. We may not be able to continue to attract and retain sufficient numbers of such highly skilled employees. Our inability to attract and
retain additional key employees or the loss of one or more of our current key employees could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

         If we experience declining or flat revenues and we fail to manage such declines effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan and may
experience future weaknesses in our operating results.

        Based on our business objectives, and in order to achieve future growth, we will need to continue to add additional qualified personnel, and invest in
additional research and development and sales and marketing activities, which could lead to increases in our expenses and future declines in our operating
results. In addition, our past expansion has placed, and future expansion is expected to place, a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, operational,
financial and other resources. If we are unable to manage these activities or any revenue declines successfully, our growth, our business, our financial condition
and our results of operations could continue to be adversely affected.

         Our use of estimates in conjunction with the input method of measuring progress to completion of performance obligations for our Transportation
Systems revenues could result in a reduction or reversal of previously recorded revenues and profits.

        A portion of Transportation Systems revenues are measured and recognized over time using the input method of measuring progress to completion. Our
use of this accounting method results in recognition of revenues and profits proportionally over the life of a contract, based generally on the proportion of costs
incurred to date to total costs expected to be incurred for the entire project. The effects of revisions to revenues and estimated costs are recorded when the
amounts are known or can be reasonably estimated. Such revisions could occur in any period and their effects could be material. Although we have historically
made reasonably reliable estimates of the progress towards completion of long-term engineering, program management, construction management or
construction contracts, the uncertainties inherent in the estimating process make it possible for actual costs to vary materially from estimates, including
reductions or reversals of previously recorded revenues and profits.

         Declines in the value of securities held in our investment portfolio can affect us negatively.

        As of March 31, 2020, the value of securities available for sale within our investment portfolio was $11.6 million, which is generally determined based
upon market values available from third-party sources. The value of our investment portfolio has fluctuated as a result of market volatility and economic or
financial market conditions. Declines in the value of securities held in our investment portfolio negatively impact our levels of capital and liquidity. Further, to
the extent that we experience unrealized losses in our portfolio of investment securities from declines in securities values that management determines to be
other than temporary, the book value of those securities will be adjusted to their estimated recovery value and we will recognize a charge to earnings in the
quarter during which we make that determination. Although we have policies and procedures in place to assess and mitigate potential impacts of market risks,
those policies and procedures are inherently limited because
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they cannot anticipate the existence or future development of currently unanticipated or unknown risks. Accordingly, we could suffer adverse effects as a result
of our failure to anticipate and manage these risks properly.

         If our internal controls over financial reporting do not comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our business and stock price could
be adversely affected.

        Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 currently requires us to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting at the
end of each fiscal year and to include a management report assessing the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in all annual reports. We
are required to obtain our auditors' attestation pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Going forward, we may not be able to complete the work
required for such attestation on a timely basis and, even if we timely complete such requirements, our independent registered public accounting firm may still
conclude that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective.

        A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will
be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within Iteris have been or will be detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that technology, decision-making and other
processes can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and we cannot assure you that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Over time, our controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. If we are
not able to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, we may lose the confidence of investors and analysts and our stock price could decline.

         Our quarterly operating results fluctuate as a result of many factors. Therefore, we may fail to meet or exceed the expectations of securities analysts
and investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.

        Our quarterly revenues and operating results have fluctuated and are likely to continue to vary from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, many of
which are not within our control. Factors that could affect our revenues and operating results include, among others, the following:

• the Pandemic, which may impact our first quarter and full fiscal year 2021 operating results; 

• delays in government contracts and funding from time to time and budgetary constraints at the federal, state and local levels; 

• our ability to access stimulus funding, funding from the federal highway bill or other government funding; 

• declines in new home and commercial real estate construction and related road and other infrastructure construction; 

• changes in our pricing policies and the pricing policies of our suppliers and competitors, pricing concessions on volume sales, as well as
increased price competition in general; 

• the long lead times associated with government contracts;
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• the size, timing, rescheduling or cancellation of significant customer orders; 

• our ability to control costs; 

• the mix of our products and services sold in a quarter, which has varied and is expected to continue to vary from time to time; 

• our ability to develop, introduce, patent, market and gain market acceptance of new products, applications and product enhancements in a
timely manner, or at all; 

• market acceptance of the products incorporating our technologies and products; 

• the introduction of new products by competitors; 

• the availability and cost of components used in the manufacture of our products; 

• our success in expanding and implementing our sales and marketing programs; 

• the effects of technological changes in our target markets; 

• the amount of our backlog at any given time; 

• timing of backlog fulfillment; 

• the nature of our government contracts; 

• decrease in revenues derived from key or significant customers; 

• deferrals of customer orders in anticipation of new products, applications or product enhancements; 

• risks and uncertainties associated with our international business; 

• market condition changes such as industry structure consolidations that could slow down our ability to procure new business; 

• general economic and political conditions; 

• our ability to raise additional capital; 

• international conflicts and acts of terrorism; and 

• other factors beyond our control, including but not limited to, natural disasters.

        Due to all of the factors listed above as well as other unforeseen factors, our future operating results could be below the expectations of securities analysts
or investors. If that happens, the trading price of our common stock could decline. As a result of these quarterly variations, you should not rely on quarter-to-
quarter comparisons of our operating results as an indication of our future performance.

         Supply shortages or production gaps could materially and adversely impact our sales and financial results.

        We have in the past experienced, and may from time to time in the future continue to experience parts shortages or unforeseen quality control issues by
our suppliers that may impact our ability to meet demand for our products. We have historically used and continue to use single suppliers for certain significant
components in our products, and have had to reengineer products from time to time to address obsolete components, especially in our Roadway Sensors
products. Our Roadway Sensors products are also included with other traffic intersection products that also could experience supply issues for their products,
which in turn could result in delays in orders for our products. Should any such supply delay or disruption occur, or should a key supplier discontinue
operations, our future sales and costs will likely be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, we rely heavily on select contract
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manufacturers to produce many of our products and do not have any long-term contracts to guarantee supply of such products. Although we believe our
contract manufacturers have sufficient capacity to meet our production schedules for the foreseeable future and we believe we could find alternative contract
manufacturing sources for many of our products, if necessary, we could experience a production gap should for any reason our contract manufacturers become
unable to meet our production requirements and our cost of goods sold could increase, adversely affecting our margins. Further, foreign imports of components
in our products subject the Company to risks of changes in, or the imposition of new, export/import requirements, tariffs, work stoppages, delays in shipment,
product cost increases due to component shortages, public health issues that could lead to temporary closures of facilities or shipping ports, such as the
Pandemic and other economic uncertainties, affecting trade between the U.S. and other countries where we source components for our Roadway Sensors
products. Any such actions could increase the cost to us of such products and cause increases in the prices at which we sell such products, which could
adversely affect the financial performance of our Roadway Sensors business. Similarly, these actions could result in cost increases or supply chain delays that
impact third party products (e.g. steel poles) which could lead our customers to delay or cancel planned purchases of our products.

         Our international business operations may be threatened by many factors that are outside of our control.

        While we historically have had limited international sales, revenues and operational experience, we have been expanding our distribution capabilities for
our Roadway Sensors segment internationally, particularly in Europe and in South America. We plan to continue to expand our international efforts, but we
cannot assure you that we will be successful in such efforts. International operations subject us to various inherent risks including, among others:

• the Pandemic and related government responses, including travel restrictions, quarantines and "stay-at-home" orders; 

• political, social and economic instability, as well as international conflicts and acts of terrorism; 

• bonding requirements for certain international projects; 

• longer accounts receivable payment cycles; 

• import and export license requirements and restrictions of the U.S., as well as requirements and restrictions in the other countries in which we
operate; 

• currency fluctuations and restrictions, and our ability to repatriate currency from certain foreign regions; 

• unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers or restrictions; 

• required compliance with existing and new foreign regulatory requirements and laws, more restrictive labor laws and obligations, including but
not limited to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; 

• difficulties in managing and staffing international operations; 

• potentially adverse tax consequences; and 

• reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

        Substantially all of our international product sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. As a result, an increase in the relative value of the dollar could make
our products more expensive and potentially less price competitive in international markets. We do not currently engage in any transactions as a hedge against
risks of loss due to foreign currency fluctuations.
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        Any of the factors mentioned above may adversely affect our future international revenues and, consequently, affect our business, financial condition and
operating results. Additionally, as we pursue the expansion of our international business, certain fixed and other overhead costs could outpace our revenues,
thus adversely affecting our results of operations. We may likewise face local competitors in certain international markets who are more established, have
greater economies of scale and stronger customer relationships. Furthermore, as we increase our international sales, our total revenues may also be affected to a
greater extent by seasonal fluctuations resulting from lower sales that typically occur during the summer months in Europe and certain other parts of the world.

         The trading price of our common stock is highly volatile.

        The trading price of our common stock has been subject to wide fluctuations in the past. From March 31, 2017 through March 31, 2020, our common
stock has traded at prices as low as $2.08 per share and as high as $8.17 per share. The market price of our common stock could continue to fluctuate in the
future in response to various factors, including, but not limited to:

• quarterly variations in operating results; 

• our ability to control costs, improve cash flow and sustain profitability; 

• our ability to raise additional capital; 

• shortages announced by suppliers; 

• announcements of technological innovations or new products or applications by our competitors, customers or us; 

• transitions to new products or product enhancements; 

• acquisitions of businesses, products or technologies, or other strategic transactions or dispositions; 

• the impact of any litigation; 

• changes in investor perceptions; 

• government funding, political agendas and other budgetary constraints; 

• changes in stock market analyst recommendations regarding our common stock, other comparable companies or our industry in general; 

• changes in earnings estimates or investment recommendations by securities analysts; and 

• international conflicts, political unrest and acts of terrorism.

        The stock market is currently experiencing and has from time to time experienced volatility, which has often affected and may continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many technology companies. This volatility has often been unrelated to the operating performance of these companies.
These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the
market price of their securities have been the subject of securities class action litigation. If we were to become the subject of a class action lawsuit, it could
result in substantial losses and divert management's attention and resources from other matters.

         Provisions of our charter documents may discourage a third party from acquiring us and may adversely affect the price of our common stock.

        Provisions of our certificate of incorporation could make it difficult for a third party to influence or acquire us, even though that might be beneficial to our
stockholders. Such provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. For example,
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under the terms of our certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors is authorized to issue, without stockholder approval, up to 2,000,000 shares of
preferred stock with voting, conversion and other rights and preferences superior to those of our common stock. In addition, our bylaws contain provisions
governing the ability of stockholders to submit proposals or make nominations for directors. We may also adopt provisions and agreements from time to time
that could make it harder for a potential acquirer.

ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

        None.

ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES 

        Our headquarters and principal operations are housed in approximately 47,000 square feet of leased office, manufacturing and warehouse space located in
Santa Ana, California, pursuant to a lease which terminates in March 2022. For additional information regarding our lease obligations, see Note 7 "Right-of-
Use Assets and Lease Liabilities" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report.

ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

        The information set forth under the heading "Litigation and Other Contingencies" under Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in
Part II, Item 8 of this report, is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

        Not applicable.
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PART II 

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT's COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES 

Market Information for Common Stock

        Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "ITI" since February 8, 2016. Prior to that, our common stock traded on
the NYSE MKT under the same symbol.

        As of May 29, 2020, we had 318 holders of record of our common stock according to information furnished by our transfer agent. The actual number of
stockholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by
brokers and other nominees.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

        Information regarding securities authorized for issuance can be found under Part III, "Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters."

Dividend Policy

        We have never paid or declared cash dividends on our common stock, and have no current plans to pay such dividends in the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain any earnings for working capital and general corporate purposes. The payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our
Board of Directors and will depend upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, future earnings, the success of our business, our capital
requirements, our general financial condition and future prospects, general business conditions, and such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem
relevant.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

        On August 9, 2012, our Board of Directors approved a new stock repurchase program pursuant to which we may acquire up to $3 million of our
outstanding common stock for an unspecified length of time. Under the program, we may repurchase shares from time to time in the open market and privately
negotiated transactions and block trades, and may also repurchase shares pursuant to a 10b5-1 trading plan during our closed trading windows, to the extent
such a 10b5-1 plan is in place. There is no guarantee as to the exact number of shares that will be repurchased. We may modify or terminate the repurchase
program at any time without prior notice. On November 6, 2014, our Board of Directors approved a $3.0 million increase to the Company's existing stock
repurchase program, pursuant to which the Company may continue to acquire shares of its outstanding common stock from time to time for an unspecified
length of time.

        In Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019, and Fiscal 2018, we did not repurchase any shares. From inception of the program in August 2011 through March 31, 2020,
we repurchased approximately 3,422,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate price of approximately $5.6 million, at an average price per share of
$1.63. As of March 31, 2020, all repurchased shares have been retired and returned to their status as authorized and unissued shares of our common stock. As
of March 31, 2020, approximately $1.7 million remains available for the repurchase of our common stock under our current program.

ITEM 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

        The Company is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and is not required to provide the information required under
this Item.
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ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT's DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

        You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto included in
Part II, Item 8 of this report and the "Risk Factors" section in Part I, Item 1A, as well as the other cautionary statements and risks described elsewhere in this
report before deciding to purchase, hold or sell our common stock.

Overview

        General.    We are a provider of smart mobility infrastructure management solutions. Municipalities, government agencies, and other transportation
infrastructure providers use our solutions to monitor, visualize, and optimize mobility infrastructure to help ensure roads are safe, travel is efficient, and
communities thrive.

        Sale of Vehicle Sensors.    On July 29, 2011, we completed the sale of substantially all of our assets used in connection with our former Vehicle Sensors
segment to Bendix Commercial Vehicle Systems LLC ("Bendix"), a member of Knorr-Bremse Group, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement signed on
July 25, 2011 (the "Asset Sale"). In connection with the Asset Sale, we were entitled to additional consideration in the form of certain performance and royalty-
related earn-outs through December 31, 2017. From the date of the Asset Sale, through March 31, 2020, we received approximately $2.7 million in connection
with royalty-related earn-outs provisions for a total of $18 million in cash received from the Asset Sale. We do not anticipate any further payments from
Bendix.

        As a result of the Asset Sale, we no longer operate in the Vehicle Sensors segment. We determined that the Vehicle Sensors segment, which previously
constituted one of our operating segments, qualified as a discontinued operation. The applicable financial results of our former Vehicle Sensors segment
through the closing of the Asset Sale have been reclassified as a discontinued operation for all periods presented in this report. Refer to Note 3 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report, for additional discussion regarding the Asset Sale.

        Business Segments.    Our reportable segments consist of: Roadway Sensors, Transportation Systems, and, prior to May 5, 2020, Agriculture and Weather
Analytics.

        The Roadway Sensors segment provides various advanced detection sensors and systems for traffic intersection management, communication systems and
roadway traffic data collection applications. The Roadways Sensors product line uses advanced image processing technology and other techniques to capture
and analyze sensor data through sophisticated algorithms, enabling vehicle, bicycle and pedestrian detection, as well as the transmission of both video images
and data using various communication technologies. Our Roadway Sensors products include, among others, Vantage, VantageLive!, Vantage Next®,
VantagePegasus, VantageRadius, Vantage Vector, Velocity, SmartCycle, SmartCycle Bike Indicator, SmartSpan, VersiCam, PedTrax and P-Series products. In
select territories, our Roadway Sensors segment also sells OEM products for the traffic intersection markets, which include, among other things, traffic signal
controllers and traffic signal equipment cabinets.

        The Transportation Systems segment includes engineering and consulting services, managed services, performance measurement and traffic analytics
solutions, as well as the development of transportation management and traveler information systems for the ITS industry. Our Transportation Systems services
include planning, design, development and implementation of software and hardware-based ITS systems that integrate sensors, video surveillance, computers
and advanced communications equipment to enable public agencies to monitor, control and direct traffic flow, assist in the quick dispatch of emergency crews,
and distribute real-time information about traffic conditions. Our services include planning, design, implementation, operation and management of surface
transportation
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infrastructure systems. We perform analysis and study goods movement, commercial vehicle operations, provide travel demand forecasting and systems
engineering, and identify mitigation measures to reduce traffic congestion. The Transportation Systems segment also includes the operations of AGI beginning
July 2, 2019 (see Note 11 "Acquisition" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the
acquisition of AGI). The Transportations Systems segment product line includes: Iteris Signal Performance Measures ("SPM"), Iteris ClearGuide, and iPeMS,
our performance measurement and analytics solution, our advanced traveler information system solutions ClearPath 511 and Reverse 511, as well as our
commercial vehicle operations and vehicle safety compliance platforms known as ClearFleet, CVIEW-Plus, CheckPoint, UCRLink and inspect.

        The Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment consisted of ClearPath Weather, a road maintenance application, and ClearAg, a digital agriculture
platform. ClearPath Weather is a web-based solution, which includes a suite of tools that apply data assimilation and modeling technologies to assess historical
weather conditions for both short-term and long-range weather forecasts and customizable route/site weather and pavement forecasting, and providing winter
road maintenance recommendations for state agencies, municipalities and commercial companies that allow such users to create solutions to meet roadway
maintenance decision needs. ClearAg solutions combine weather and agronomic data with proprietary land-surface modeling and analytics to solve complex
agricultural problems and to increase the efficiency and sustainability of farmlands. ClearAg solutions were offered to companies in the agriculture industry,
such as seed and crop protection companies, integrated food companies, and agricultural equipment manufacturers and service providers. ClearAg solutions
provided weather, environment, soil and plant growth modeling to deliver environmental intelligence through ClearAg APIs and components, IMFocus APIs
and ClearAg web applications.

        On May 5, 2020, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") entered in on May 2, 2020, the Company sold the assets of its
Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, composed of its ClearAg and ClearPath Weather product lines, to DTN, LLC ("DTN"), an operating company of
TBG AG, a Swiss-based holding company. As a result of the sale, we no longer operate in the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment. See Note 14
"Subsequent Events" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the sale of the
Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

        "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" is based on our consolidated financial statements included
herein, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates and assumptions,
include those related to revenue recognition, the collectability of accounts receivable and related allowance for doubtful accounts, projections of taxable
income used to assess realizability of deferred tax assets, warranty reserves and other contingencies, costs to complete long-term contracts, indirect cost rates
used in cost plus contracts, the valuation of inventories, the valuation of purchased intangible assets and goodwill, the valuation of investments, estimates of
future cash flows used to assess the recoverability of long-lived assets and the impairment of goodwill, and fair value of our stock option awards used to
calculate stock-based compensation. We base these estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. These estimates and assumptions by their nature involve risks and uncertainties, and may prove to be inaccurate. In the event that any of
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our estimates or assumptions are inaccurate in any material respect, it could have a material adverse effect on our reported amounts of assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

        The following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements.

        Revenue Recognition.    Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred to our customers, in a gross amount that
reflects the consideration that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. We generate all of our revenues from contracts with our
customers.

        Product revenue related contracts with customers begin when we acknowledge a purchase order for a specific customer order of product to be delivered in
the near term. These purchase orders are short-term in nature. Product revenue is recognized at a point in time upon shipment or upon customer receipt of the
product, depending on shipping terms. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of goods as transfer of control typically occurs
upon shipment or upon customer receipt of the product.

        Service revenues, primarily derived from the Transportation Systems and Agriculture and Weather Analytics segments, are primarily from long-term
engineering and consulting service contracts with governmental agencies. These contracts generally include performance obligations in which control is
transferred over time. We recognize revenue on fixed fee contracts, over time, using the proportion of actual costs incurred to the total costs expected to
complete the contract performance obligation. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of services as the proportion closely
depicts the efforts or inputs completed towards the satisfaction of a fixed fee contract performance obligation. Time & Materials ("T&M") and Cost Plus Fixed
Fee ("CPFF") contracts are considered variable consideration. However, performance obligations with these fee types qualify for the "Right to Invoice"
Practical Expedient. Under this practical expedient, the Company is allowed to recognize revenue, over time, in the amount to which the Company has a right
to invoice. In addition, the Company is not required to estimate such variable consideration upon inception of the contract and reassess the estimate each
reporting period. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of services as, upon billing, the Company has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that directly corresponds with the value to the customer of the Company's performance completed to date.

        Service revenues also consist of revenues derived from maintenance support and the use of the Company's service platforms and APIs on a subscription
basis. We generate this revenue from fees for maintenance support, monthly active user fees, SaaS fees, and hosting fees. In most cases, the subscription or
transaction arrangement is a single performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer (i.e., distinct days of service). The Company applies a time-based measure of progress to the total transaction price, which results in ratable
recognition over the term of the contract. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of services as the customer obtains equal
benefit from the service throughout the service period. The Company accounts for individual goods and services separately if they are distinct performance
obligations, which often requires significant judgment based upon knowledge of the products and/or services, the solutions provided and the structure of the
sales contract. In SaaS agreements, we provide a service to the customer which combines the software functionality, maintenance and hosting into a single
performance obligation. In product related contracts, a purchase order may contain different products, each constituting a separate performance obligation.

        We generally estimate variable consideration at the most likely amount to which we expect to be entitled and in certain cases based on the expected value,
which requires judgment. We include
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estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated
amounts in the transaction price are based largely on an assessment of our anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that
is reasonably available to us. We review and update these estimates on a quarterly basis.

        The Company's typical performance obligations include the following:

        Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets.    Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration paid for an acquisition and
the fair value of the acquired net tangible and intangible assets. Other long-lived assets primarily represent internally developed and purchased intangible assets
including developed technology, customer relationships, trade names and patents. We currently amortize our intangible assets with definitive lives over periods
ranging from one to seven years using a method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible asset are consumed or otherwise used
or, if that pattern cannot be reliably determined, using a straight-line amortization method over the estimated useful life of the asset.

        The Company has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less
than its carrying value. However, the Company may elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment tests. The
first step of the impairment test involves comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its net book value, including goodwill. If the net book value exceeds
its fair value, the Company would perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount of the impairment loss. We perform an
annual qualitative assessment of our goodwill during the fourth fiscal quarter, or more frequently, to determine if any events or circumstances exist, such as an
adverse change in business climate or a decline in overall industry demand, that would indicate that it would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount, including goodwill. If events or circumstances do not indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its
carrying amount, then goodwill is not considered to be impaired and no further testing is required, if otherwise, we compare the fair value of our reporting unit
to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, the amount by which the
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When Performance
Obligation is
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Product Revenues       

Standard purchase orders for delivery of
a tangible product

 
Upon shipment (point in time)  Within 30 days of delivery Observable transactions

Engineering services where the
deliverable is considered a product

 
As work is performed (over time)  

Within 30 days of services
being invoiced  

Estimated using a cost-plus
margin approach

Service Revenues       
Engineering and consulting services  

As work is performed (over time)  
Within 30 days of services
being invoiced  

Estimated using a cost-plus
margin approach

SaaS  Over the course of the SaaS service once the system
is available for use (over time)  

At the beginning of the
contract period  

Estimated using a cost-plus
margin approach
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carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, if any, is recognized as an impairment loss. We determine the fair values of our reporting units
using the income valuation approach, as well as other generally accepted valuation methodologies.

        We test long-lived assets and purchased intangible assets (other than goodwill) for impairment if we believe indicators of impairment exist. We determine
whether the carrying value of an asset or asset group is recoverable, based on comparisons to undiscounted expected future cash flows the asset or asset group
is expected to generate. If an asset is not recoverable, we record an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair
value. We primarily use the income valuation approach to determine the fair value of our long-lived assets and purchased intangible assets.

        Income Taxes.    We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, under which deferred taxes are determined based on the
temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the
basis differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized,
which increases our income tax expense in the period such determination is made.

        On an interim basis, we estimate what our anticipated annual effective tax rate will be, while also separately considering applicable discrete and other non-
recurring items, and record a quarterly income tax provision in accordance with this anticipated rate. As the fiscal year progresses, we refine our estimates
based upon actual events and financial results during the year. This estimation process can result in significant changes to our expected effective tax rate. When
this occurs, we adjust our income tax provision during the quarter in which our estimates are refined so that the year-to-date provision reflects the expected
annual effective tax rate. These changes, along with adjustments to our deferred taxes, among others, may create fluctuations in our overall effective tax rate
from quarter to quarter.

        Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized. Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the
more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax
positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are reversed in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no
longer met.

        The application of tax laws and regulations is subject to legal and factual interpretation, judgment and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulations themselves
are subject to change as a result of changes in fiscal policy, changes in legislation, the evolution of regulations and court rulings. Therefore, the actual liability
for U.S. or foreign taxes may be materially different from our estimates, which could result in the need to record additional tax liabilities or potentially reverse
previously recorded tax liabilities.

        In relation to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA"), we determined reasonable provisional estimates on our existing deferred tax balances and the one-time
transition tax under the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("SAB 118"). Actual future
operating results and the underlying amount and type of income could differ materially from our estimates, assumptions and judgments, thereby impacting our
consolidated financial position and results of operations.

        On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted and signed into U.S. law to provide economic relief to
individuals and businesses facing economic hardship as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Changes in tax laws or rates are accounted for in the period of
enactment. The income tax provisions of the CARES Act had an immaterial impact on our current taxes, deferred taxes, and uncertain tax positions of the
Company.
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        Stock-Based Compensation.    We record stock-based compensation in the statements of operations as an expense, based on the grant date estimated fair
value of our stock-based awards, whereby such fair values are amortized over the requisite service period. Our stock-based awards are currently comprised of
common stock options and restricted stock units. The fair value of our stock option awards is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option-pricing formula. While utilizing this model meets established requirements, the estimated fair values generated by it may not be indicative of the actual
fair values of our stock option awards as it does not consider certain factors important to those awards to employees, such as continued employment and
periodic vesting requirements, as well as the limited transferability of the awards. The fair value of our restricted stock units is based on the closing market
price of our common stock on the grant date. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested stock-based awards, we may be
required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        Refer to Note 1 "Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in
Part II, Item 8 of this report for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

Analysis of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 Results of Operations

        For a comparison of the 2019 to 2018 fiscal years, see Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations of the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019."

        Total Revenues.    Total revenues are comprised of sales from our Roadway Sensors, Transportation Systems and Agriculture and Weather Analytics
segments. The following tables present details of total revenues for Fiscal 2020 as compared to Fiscal 2019:

        Product revenues primarily consist of Roadway Sensors product sales, but also include OEM products for the traffic signal markets, as well as
Transportation Systems third-party product sales for installation under certain construction-type contracts. Product revenues for Fiscal 2020 increased
approximately 14.1% to $55.0 million, compared to $48.2 million in Fiscal 2019, primarily due to an increase in sales of our core Roadway Sensors video
detection products, and to a lesser extent, increases in both unit sales from our distribution in Texas of certain OEM products for the traffic intersection market
and Transportation Systems third-party product sales for installation under certain construction-type contracts.

        Service revenues primarily consist of Transportation Systems engineering services, but also includes service revenues generated by our Roadway Sensors
segment and the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment. Service revenues for Fiscal 2020 increased approximately 16.1% to $59.1 million, compared to
$50.9 million in Fiscal 2019, primarily due to approximately $6.4 million of revenues from the operations of AGI as well as higher Transportation Systems
traffic engineering service revenues and to a lesser extent higher Agriculture and Weather Analytics revenues. Total revenues for Fiscal 2020 increased
approximately 15.1% to $114.1 million, compared to $99.1 million in Fiscal 2019. The increase in total revenues was primarily due to an approximate 16.5%
increase in Transportation
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  Year Ended March 31,      
  2020  2019  $ Increase  % Change  
  (In thousands, except percentages)  
Product revenues  $ 55,007 $ 48,227 $ 6,780  14.1%
Service revenues   59,110  50,896  8,214  16.1%

Total revenues  $ 114,117 $ 99,123 $ 14,994  15.1%
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Systems revenues, an approximate 13.5% increase in Roadway Sensors revenues, and an approximate 15.5% increase in Agriculture and Weather Analytics
revenues.

        Roadway Sensors revenues in Fiscal 2020 included approximately $49.1 million in product revenues and approximately $0.3 million of service revenues,
reflecting an increase in total revenues of approximately $5.9 million or 13.5%, compared to Fiscal 2019, primarily due to higher sales from our core video
detection products, as well as higher unit sales from our distribution in Texas of certain OEM products for the traffic intersection market, which increased
approximately $2.0 million or 54.1% to approximately $5.8 million. While OEM products generally have lower gross margins than our core video detection
products, we believe the offering of OEM products can benefit sales of our core products in Texas by providing a more comprehensive suite of traffic solutions
for our customers. Going forward, we plan to grow revenues by focusing on our core domestic traffic intersection market, and refining and delivering products
that address the needs of this market, primarily our Vantage processors and camera systems and our Vantage Vector video/radar hybrid sensor, as well as our
SmartCycle, Velocity, PedTrax and SmartSpan products.

        Transportation Systems revenues in Fiscal 2020 included approximately $52.1 million of service revenues and approximately $5.9 million of sales of
third-party products purchased for installation under certain construction-type contracts, reflecting an increase in total revenues of approximately $8.2 million
or 16.5%, compared to Fiscal 2019, primarily due to approximately $6.4 million of revenues from the operations of AGI and an increase in Transportation
Systems traffic engineering service revenues of approximately $1.1 million. Transportation Systems added approximately $68.7 million of new backlog during
the Fiscal 2020. Transportation Systems backlog increased to approximately $53.4 million as of March 31, 2020, compared to approximately $44.5 million as
of March 31, 2019.

        We plan to continue to focus on securing new contracts and to extend and/or continue our existing relationships with key agencies related to projects in
their final project phases. While we believe our ability to obtain additional large contracts will contribute to overall revenue growth, the mix of sub-consulting
content and third-party product sales will likely affect the related total gross profit from period to period, as total revenues derived from sub-consultants and
third-party product sales generally have lower gross margins than revenues generated by our professional services.

        Agriculture and Weather Analytics revenues in Fiscal 2020 included no product revenue and approximately $6.7 million of service revenues, largely
consisting of subscription revenues, reflecting an increase in total revenues of approximately $0.9 million or 15.5%, compared to Fiscal 2019. The increase was
primarily due to increases in both ClearPath Weather and ClearAg solutions under newly signed contracts during Fiscal 2020.

        Gross Profit.    The following tables present details of our gross profit for Fiscal 2020 compared to Fiscal 2019:
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  Year Ended March 31,      
  2020  2019  $ Increase  % Change  
  (In thousands, except percentages)  
Product gross profit  $ 24,741 $ 19,793 $ 4,948  25.0%
Service gross profit   23,020  18,813  4,207  22.4%

Total gross profit  $ 47,761 $ 38,606 $ 9,155  23.7%
Product gross margin as a % of product revenues   45.0% 41.0%      
Service gross margin as a % of service revenues   38.9% 37.0%      

Total gross margin as a % of total revenues   41.9% 38.9%      
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        Our product gross margin as a percentage of product revenues for Fiscal 2020 increased approximately 400 basis points compared to Fiscal 2019 primarily
due to an increase in our Roadway Sensors core video detection products, which typically yields higher gross margins than our Roadway Sensors OEM sales
and our Transportation Systems third-party product sales for installation under certain construction-type contracts that we classify as product revenues.

        Our service gross margin as a percentage of service revenues for Fiscal 2020 increased 190 basis points compared to Fiscal 2019 primarily due to the
completion of previously awarded contracts, the timing of certain extension contracts, the contract mix and a decrease in the amount of related sub-consulting
content of such contracts. Sub-consulting content generally results in lower gross margins than our direct labor content.

        Our total gross margin as a percentage of total revenues for Fiscal 2020 increased 300 basis points compared to Fiscal 2019 primarily as a result of the
revenue mix within our Roadway Sensors and Transportation Systems segments. During Fiscal 2020, there was an increase in the percentage of revenue from
our Roadway Sensors core video detection products as well as a decrease in the percentage of revenue from our Transportation Systems sales of third-party
products purchased for installation under certain construction-type contracts, both of which drove an increase in gross margin.

        Roadway Sensors gross profit can fluctuate in any specific quarter or year based on, among other factors, customer and product mix between core
products and third party OEM products, competitive pricing requirements, product warranty costs and provisions for our excess and obsolete inventories, as
well as shifts of engineering resources from development activities to sustaining activities, which we record as cost of goods sold.

        We recognize a portion of our Transportation Systems revenues and related gross profit over time using the costs incurred input method, where revenue is
recognized based on the Company's efforts or inputs toward satisfying a performance obligation, and the underlying mix of contract activity affects the related
gross profit recognized in any given period. For the Transportation Systems segment, we expect to experience gross profit variability in future periods due to
our contract mix and the amount of related sub-consulting content of such contracts, as well as factors such as our ability to efficiently utilize our internal
workforce, which could cause fluctuations in our margins from period to period.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

        Selling, general and administration expense for Fiscal 2020 increased approximately 15.3% to $44.4 million, compared to $38.5 million in Fiscal 2019.
The increase was primarily due to expenses related to the acquisition of AGI, retention costs for certain Agriculture and Weather Analytics employees, and
executive severance costs. In connection with the AGI acquisition completed in July 2019, we added more than 40 employees, which has increased our selling,
general and administrative expense in Fiscal 2020.

Research and Development Expense

        Research and development expense for Fiscal 2020 increased approximately 10.3% to $8.6 million, compared to $7.8 million in Fiscal 2019. The overall
increase was primarily due to continued investment in research and development activities largely focused on improving our existing software related product
offerings.

        During Fiscal 2020, we invested in the development of further enhancements and functionality of the ClearAg and ClearPath Weather solutions in the
Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment and our Vantage products family in our Roadway Sensors segment. In our Transportation Systems segment, we
invested in, and successfully released Iteris ClearGuide, our state-of-the-art mobility intelligence platform, designed to help transportation agencies achieve
safer, more efficient mobility for their
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networks. Going forward, we plan to continue to invest in Iteris ClearGuide and our Vantage products family.

        In both the current and prior year periods certain development costs were capitalized into intangible assets in the consolidated balance sheets; however,
certain costs did not meet the criteria for capitalization under GAAP and are included in research and development expense. Going forward, we expect to
continue to invest in our solutions. This continued investment may result in increases in research and development costs, as well as additional capitalized
software in future periods.

Impairment of Goodwill

        Based on our goodwill impairment testing for Fiscal 2020 and 2019, we believe the carrying value of our goodwill was not impaired, as the estimated fair
values of our reporting units exceeded their carrying values at the end of Fiscal 2020 and 2019. If our actual financial results, or the plans and estimates used in
future goodwill impairment analyses, are lower than our original estimates used to assess impairment of our goodwill, we could incur goodwill impairment
charges in the future.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

        Amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization was approximately $1.5 million and $1.1 million for Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019,
respectively. Approximately $736,000 and $850,000 of the intangible asset amortization was recorded to cost of revenues, and approximately $757,000 and
$275,000 was recorded to amortization expense for Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations. The increase in
amortization was primarily due to amortization expenses related to intangible assets acquired as part of the AGI acquisition.

Interest Income, Net

        Net interest income was approximately $229,000 and $129,000 in Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. The increase in net interest income in the
current year was primarily due to interest earned on investments purchased and held during the current Fiscal year.

Income Taxes

        The following table presents our (benefit) provision for income taxes for Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019:

        For Fiscal 2020 and 2019, the difference between the statutory and the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to the valuation allowance recorded
against our deferred tax assets.

        In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets, we review all available positive and negative evidence, including reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
potential carrybacks, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. As the Company has sustained a cumulative
pre-tax loss over the trailing three fiscal years, we considered it appropriate to maintain valuation allowances of $14.2 million and $12.3 million against our
deferred tax assets at March 31,
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Year Ended
March 31,  

  2020  2019  

  
(In thousands,

except percentages)  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes  $ 160 $ 36 
Effective tax rate   (3.1)%  (0.5)%
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2020 and 2019, respectively. We will continue to reassess the appropriateness of maintaining a valuation allowance.

        As we update our estimates in future periods, adjustments to our deferred tax asset and valuation allowance may be necessary. We anticipate this will
cause our future overall effective tax rate in any given period to fluctuate from prior effective tax rates and statutory tax rates. We utilize the liability method of
accounting for income taxes. We record net deferred tax assets to the extent that we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized.

        At March 31, 2020, we had $10.7 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that do not expire as a result of recent tax law changes. We had
$7.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that begin to expire in 2038. We also had $8.7 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that
begin to expire in 2031. Although the impact cannot be precisely determined at this time, we believe that our net operating loss carryforwards will provide
reductions in our future income tax payments, that would otherwise be higher using statutory tax rates.

        On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in response to the Pandemic. The CARES Act
contains numerous income tax provisions, such as relaxing limitations on the deductibility of interest and the use of net operating losses arising in taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2017. The CARES Act allows net operating losses incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five
preceding taxable years to generate a refund of previously paid income taxes. The income tax provisions of the CARES Act had an immaterial impact on our
current taxes, deferred taxes, and uncertain tax positions of the Company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        For a comparison of the 2019 to 2018 fiscal years, see Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations of the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019."

Cash Flows

        We have historically financed our operations with a combination of cash flows from operations and the sale of equity securities. We expect to continue to
rely on cash flows from operations and our cash reserves to fund our operations, which we believe to be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next
twelve months. However, we may need or choose to raise additional capital to fund potential future acquisitions and our future growth. We may raise such
funds by selling equity or debt securities to the public or to selected investors or by borrowing money from financial institutions. If we raise additional funds by
issuing equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders may experience significant dilution, and any equity securities that may be issued may
have rights senior to our existing stockholders. There is no assurance that we will be able to secure additional funding on a timely basis, on terms acceptable to
us, or at all.

        At March 31, 2020, we had $32.5 million in working capital, which included $14.4 million in cash and cash equivalents and $11.6 million in short-term
investments. This compares to working capital of $13.5 million at March 31, 2019, which included $7.1 million in cash and cash equivalents and $1.9 million
in short-term investments.
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        The following table summarizes our cash flows for Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019:

        Operating Activities.    Cash used in our operations during Fiscal 2020 was primarily the result of our net loss of approximately $5.6 million, adjusted by
approximately $6.9 million in non-cash items for noncash lease expense, deferred income taxes, depreciation, stock-based compensation, and amortization,
offset by a decrease of approximately $5.2 million from changes in working capital.

        Cash used in our operations during Fiscal 2019 was primarily the result of our net loss of approximately $7.8 million, adjusted by approximately
$4.1 million in non-cash items for deferred income taxes, depreciation, stock-based compensation, and amortization. The net loss was offset in part by
approximately $2.1 million of working capital used in our operations in Fiscal 2019.

        Investing Activities.    Net cash used in our investing activities during Fiscal 2020 was primarily the result of purchases of approximately $33.8 million of
short-term investments and approximately $468,000 of property and equipment, as well as approximately $5.6 million in net cash paid for the AGI acquisition
and approximately $633,000 of capitalized software development, primarily in the Roadway Sensors and Transportation Systems business segments related to
VantageLive! and Iteris ClearGuide, respectively. These investments were partially offset by approximately $24.2 million in proceeds from the sale and
maturity of short-term investments.

        Net cash provided by our investing activities during Fiscal 2019 was primarily the result of approximately $7.5 million in proceeds from the maturity of
short-term investments and approximately $107,000 in proceeds from the last earn-out payment related to the sale of the assets of the Vehicle Sensors segment
in 2011. These amounts were partially offset by purchases of approximately $4.1 million of short-term investments and approximately $486,000 of property
and equipment as well as approximately $660,000 of capitalized software development primarily in the Roadway Sensors business segment related to
VantageLive! developments.

        Financing Activities.    Net cash provided by financing activities during Fiscal 2020 was the result of approximately $26.8 million of proceeds from the
issuance of common stock in connection with the public offering, net of costs, of 6,182,797 shares of the Company's common stock on June 13, 2019. In
addition, there was $370,000 of cash proceeds from the purchase of ESPP shares and approximately $256,000 of cash proceeds from the exercises of stock
options.

        Net cash provided by financing activities during Fiscal 2019 was primarily the result of approximately $365,000 of cash proceeds received from the
purchases of Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") shares, and approximately $85,000 of cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options during Fiscal
2019.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

        We do not have any other material off-balance sheet arrangements at March 31, 2020.

38

  
Year Ended
March 31,  

  2020  2019  
  (In thousands)  
Net cash provided by (used in):        
Operating activities  $ (3,827) $ (5,828)
Investing activities  $ (16,243) $ 2,345 
Financing activities  $ 27,362 $ 402 
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Seasonality

        We have historically experienced seasonality, particularly with respect to our Roadway Sensors segment, which adversely affects such sales in our third
and fourth fiscal quarters due to a reduction in intersection construction and repairs during the winter months due to inclement weather conditions, with the
third fiscal quarter generally impacted the most by inclement weather. We have also experienced seasonality, particularly with respect to our Transportation
Systems segment, which adversely impacts our third fiscal quarter due to the increased number of holidays, causing a reduction in available billable hours. In
addition, we have experienced seasonality related to certain ClearPath Weather services which adversely impacts such sales in our first and second fiscal
quarters, mainly because these services are generally not required during Spring and Summer when weather conditions are comparatively milder.

ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

        The Company is a smaller reporting company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and is not required to provide the information required by this
Item.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Iteris, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Iteris, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2020, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
March 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

        We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated June 9, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

        As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases as of and for the year ended
March 31, 2020 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, Leases.

Basis for Opinion

        These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Costa Mesa, CA
June 9, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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Iteris, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value)

   

See accompanying notes.
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  March 31,  
  2020  2019  
Assets        
Current assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 14,217 $ 7,071 
Restricted cash   146  — 
Short-term investments   11,556  1,935 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $802 and $539 at

March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively   17,569  16,929 
Unbilled accounts receivable   10,352  6,487 
Inventories   3,040  2,916 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,149  1,367 

Total current assets   59,029  36,705 
Property and equipment, net   1,942  1,965 
Right-of-use assets   13,044  — 
Intangible assets, net   6,137  3,286 
Goodwill   20,590  15,150 
Other assets   1,215  849 

Total assets  $ 101,957 $ 57,955 
Liabilities and stockholders' equity        
Current liabilities:        

Trade accounts payable  $ 8,355 $ 9,441 
Accrued payroll and related expenses   8,441  6,536 
Accrued liabilities   3,756  2,370 
Deferred revenue   5,963  4,883 

Total current liabilities   26,515  23,230 
Deferred rent   —  455 
Lease liabilities   11,995  — 
Deferred income taxes   190  65 
Unrecognized tax benefits   130  150 

Total liabilities   38,830  23,900 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)        
Stockholders' equity:        

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value:        
Authorized shares—2,000 Issued and outstanding shares—none   —  — 

Common stock, $0.10 par value:        
Authorized shares—70,000 at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 Issued and outstanding

shares—40,713 at March 31, 2020 and 33,377 at March 31, 2019   4,071  3,338 
Additional paid-in capital   176,209  142,260 
Accumulated deficit   (117,153)  (111,543)

Total stockholders' equity   63,127  34,055 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 101,957 $ 57,955 



Table of Contents

Iteris, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

   

See accompanying notes.
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
Product revenues  $ 55,007 $ 48,227 $ 46,464 
Service revenues   59,110  50,896  57,265 

Total revenues   114,117  99,123  103,729 
Cost of product revenues   30,266  28,434  26,633 
Cost of service revenues   36,090  32,083  37,265 

Cost of revenues   66,356  60,517  63,898 
Gross profit   47,761  38,606  39,831 
Operating expenses:           

Selling, general and administrative   44,383  38,471  37,400 
Research and development   8,597  7,819  7,945 
Amortization of intangible assets   757  275  88 

Total operating expenses   53,737  46,565  45,433 
Operating loss   (5,976)  (7,959)  (5,602)
Non-operating income (expense):           

Other income (expense), net   297  50  (16)
Interest income, net   229  129  32 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes   (5,450)  (7,780)  (5,586)
(Provision) benefit for income taxes   (160)  (36)  1,818 
Loss from continuing operations   (5,610)  (7,816)  (3,768)
Gain on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax   —  —  242 
Net loss  $ (5,610) $ (7,816) $ (3,526)
Loss per share from continuing operations—basic and diluted  $ (0.14) $ (0.23) $ (0.12)
Gain per share from sale of discontinued operation—basic and diluted  $ — $ — $ 0.01 
Net loss per share—basic and diluted  $ (0.14) $ (0.23) $ (0.11)
Shares used in basic per share calculations   39,012  33,266  32,776 
Shares used in diluted per share calculations   39,012  33,266  32,776 
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Iteris, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(In thousands)

   

See accompanying notes.
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 Common Stock

       
 

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

 

  Shares  Amount  
Balance at March 31, 2017   32,488 $ 3,249 $ 136,968 $ (99,993) $ 40,224 
Stock option exercises   591  59  1,131  —  1,190 
Stock-based compensation   —  —  1,781  —  1,781 
Issuance of shares pursuant               — 

to vesting of restricted stock units,               — 
net of payroll withholding taxes   107  10  (158)  —  (148)

Net loss            (3,526)  (3,526)
Balance at March 31, 2018   33,186 $ 3,318 $ 139,722 $ (103,519) $ 39,521 
Adoption of ASU 2014-09 (see Note 1)            (208)  (208)
Stock option exercises   43  4  81  —  85 
Issuance of shares pursuant                 

to Employee Stock Purchase Plan   92  10  355  —  365 
Stock-based compensation   —  —  2,156  —  2,156 
Issuance of shares pursuant to vesting of restricted stock

units, net of payroll withholding taxes   56  6  (54)  —  (48)
Net loss            (7,816)  (7,816)
Balance at March 31, 2019   33,377 $ 3,338 $ 142,260 $ (111,543) $ 34,055 
Issuance of common stock in connection with public

offerring, net of costs   6,183  618  26,133  —  26,751 
Stock option exercises   120  12  244  —  256 
Issuance of shares pursuant to Employee Stock Purchase

Plan   91  9  361  —  370 
Stock-based compensation   —  —  2,785  —  2,785 
Issuance of shares pursuant to vesting of restricted stock

units, net of payroll withholding taxes   73  7  (22)  —  (15)
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition   869  87  4,448  —  4,535 
Net loss            (5,610)  (5,610)
Balance at March 31, 2020   40,713 $ 4,071 $ 176,209 $ (117,153) $ 63,127 
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Iteris, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Iteris, Inc.

   

See accompanying notes.
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
Cash flows from operating activities           
Net loss  $ (5,610) $ (7,816) $ (3,526)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:           

Right-of-use asset non-cash expense   1,772  —  — 
Deferred income taxes   105  (18)  (660)
Depreciation of property and equipment   848  854  819 
Stock-based compensation   2,785  2,156  1,781 
Amortization of intangible assets   1,492  1,125  726 
Gain on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax   —  —  (242)
Loss on disposal of equipment   —  —  16 
Other   (60)  —  — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of discontinued operation and

acquisition:           
Trade accounts receivable   265  (4,063)  1,433 
Unbilled accounts receivable and deferred revenue   (2,438)  457  (166)
Inventories   (124)  5  (671)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (987)  902  (693)
Trade accounts payable and accrued expenses   (534)  570  915 
Operating lease liabilities   (1,341)  —  — 

Net cash used in operating activities   (3,827)  (5,828)  (268)
Cash flows from investing activities           
Purchases of property and equipment   (468)  (486)  (1,079)
Purchase of short term investments   (33,786)  (4,079)  (5,319)
Maturities of investments   24,225  7,463  — 
Capitalized software development costs   (633)  (660)  (2,936)
Cash paid in business acquisition, net of cash acquired   (5,581)  —  — 
Net proceeds from sale of business segment   —  107  511 
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (16,243)  2,345  (8,823)
Cash flows from financing activities           
Proceeds from stock option exercises   256  85  1,190 
Proceeds from ESPP purchases   370  365  — 
Tax withholding payments for net share settlements of restricted stock units   (15)  (48)  (148)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of costs   26,751  —  — 
Net cash provided by financing activities   27,362  402  1,042 
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   7,292  (3,081)  (8,049)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   7,071  10,152  18,201 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 14,363 $ 7,071 $ 10,152 
Supplemental cash flow information:           
Cash paid during the year for:           

Income taxes  $ 63 $ 4 $ 130 
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:           
Issuance of common stock for vested restricted stock units  $ 7 $ 6 $ 10 
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition  $ 4,535 $ — $ — 
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets  $ 581 $ — $ — 
Capitalized software development costs included in accounts payable and accrued

expenses  $ — $ — $ 102 
Landlord contribution for tenant improvements  $ — $ — $ 145 



Table of Contents

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

        Iteris, Inc. (referred to collectively with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, ClearAg, Inc. and Albeck Gerken, Inc. ("AGI"), in this report as "Iteris", the
"Company", "we", "our", and "us") is a provider of smart mobility infrastructure solutions . Municipalities, government agencies, and other transportation
infrastructure providers use our solutions to monitor, visualize, and optimize mobility infrastructure to help ensure roads are safe, travel is efficient, and
communities thrive.

        As a pioneer in intelligent transportation systems ("ITS") technology for more than two decades, we offer a comprehensive range of ITS technology
solutions to our customers throughout the U.S. and internationally through a combination intellectual property, products, and SaaS offerings.

        Prior to the sale of our Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment in May 2020, we combined our intellectual property with enhanced atmospheric, land
surface and agronomic modeling techniques to offer smart content and analytical solutions that provide analytical support to large enterprises in the agriculture
industry, such as seed and crop protection companies, integrated food companies, and agricultural equipment manufacturers and service providers.

        We believe our products, solutions and services improve and safely optimize mobility within our communities, while minimizing environmental impact on
the roads we travel.

        We continue to make significant investments to leverage our existing technologies and further expand both our advanced detection sensors and
performance analytics systems in the transportation infrastructure market and always exploring strategic alternatives intended to optimize the value of all of our
businesses.

        Iteris was incorporated in Delaware in 1987 and has operated in its current form since 2004.

Recent Developments

Public Offering and Acquisition of Albeck Gerken, Inc.

        On June 13, 2019, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 6,182,797 shares of the Company's common stock for net proceeds to the
Company of approximately $26.8 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses payable by the Company. The Company
used approximately $6.2 million of the net proceeds of this offering to pay the cash portion of the purchase price in the acquisition of AGI, a privately-held
professional transportation engineering services firm headquartered in Tampa, Florida (see Note 11 for further details on the acquisition of AGI), and plans to
use the balance of the net proceeds for general corporate purposes and possibly for other future acquisitions.

Coronavirus

        In March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly growing outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus,
COVID-19 ("the Pandemic"). The Pandemic is having an unprecedented impact on the U.S. economy as federal, state and local governments react to this
public health crisis, such as travel restrictions, quarantines and "stay-at-home" orders. The uncertainties caused by these events and actions include, but are not
limited to, the adverse effect of the Pandemic on the economy, our vendors, our employees and customers and customer sentiment in general. Continued
impacts of the Pandemic have materially adversely impacted global economic
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conditions, and could impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. The extent of the impact of the Pandemic on our business and financial
results and volatility of our stock price will depend largely on future developments, including the duration of the spread of the outbreak, the impact on capital
and financial markets and the related impact on the financial circumstances of our customers, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be reasonably
estimated as of this report.

Sale of Segment

        On May 5, 2020, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") entered in on May 2, 2020, the Company sold the assets of its
Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, composed of its ClearAg and ClearPath Weather product lines, to DTN, LLC ("DTN"), an operating company of
TBG AG, a Swiss-based holding company. As of March 31, 2020, the Company determined that Agriculture and Weather Analytics did not meet the held for
sale classification criteria under Accounting Standard Codification Topic 360 ("ASC 360"), and as such, Agriculture and Weather Analytics assets and
liabilities as of March 31, 2020, and the results of operations for all periods presented are not classified as held for sale and are included in continuing
operations in the consolidated financial statements. See Note 14 for further details on the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment.

Basis of Presentation

        Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Iteris, Inc. and all its subsidiaries and have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP"). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires our management to make certain estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements include the collectability of accounts receivable and related allowance for doubtful accounts, projections of taxable
income used to assess realizability of deferred tax assets, warranty reserves, costs to complete long-term contracts, indirect cost rates used in cost plus
contracts, the valuation of purchased intangible assets and goodwill, the valuation of equity instruments, estimates of future cash flows used to assess the
recoverability of long-lived assets and the impairment of goodwill, and fair value of our stock option awards used to calculate the stock-based compensation.

Revenue Recognition

        Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred to our customers, in a gross amount that reflects the consideration
that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. We generate all of our revenue from contracts with customers.

        Product revenue related contracts with customers begin when we acknowledge a purchase order for a specific customer order of product to be delivered in
the near term. These purchase orders are
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short-term in nature. Product revenue is recognized at a point in time upon shipment or upon customer receipt of the product, depending on shipping terms. The
Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of goods as transfer of control typically occurs upon shipment or upon customer receipt of
the product.

        Service revenues, primarily derived from the Transportation Systems and Agriculture and Weather Analytics segments, are primarily from long-term
engineering and consulting service contracts with governmental agencies. These contracts generally include performance obligations in which control is
transferred over time. We recognize revenue on fixed fee contracts, over time, using the proportion of actual costs incurred to the total costs expected to
complete the contract performance obligation. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of services as the proportion closely
depicts the efforts or inputs completed towards the satisfaction of a fixed fee contract performance obligation. Time & Materials ("T&M") and Cost Plus Fixed
Fee ("CPFF") contracts are considered variable consideration. However, performance obligations with these fee types qualify for the "Right to Invoice"
Practical Expedient. Under this practical expedient, the Company is allowed to recognize revenue, over time, in the amount to which the Company has a right
to invoice. In addition, the Company is not required to estimate such variable consideration upon inception of the contract and reassess the estimate each
reporting period. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer of services as, upon billing, the Company has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that directly corresponds with the value to the customer of the Company's performance completed to date.

        Service revenues also consist of revenues derived from maintenance and support, as well as the use of the Company's service platforms and APIs on a
subscription basis. We generate this revenue from fees for maintenance and support, monthly active user fees, software-as-a-service ("SaaS") fees, and hosting
and storage fees. In most cases, the subscription or transaction arrangement is a single performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of transfer (i.e., distinct days of service). The Company applies a time-based measure of progress to the
total transaction price, which results in ratable recognition over the term of the contract. The Company determined that this method best represents the transfer
of services as the customer obtains equal benefit from the service throughout the service period.

        The Company accounts for individual goods and services separately if they are distinct performance obligations, which often requires significant judgment
based upon knowledge of the products and/or services, the solution provided and the structure of the sales contract. In SaaS agreements, we provide a service to
the customer which combines the software functionality, maintenance and hosting into a single performance obligation. In product related contracts, a purchase
order may contain different products, each constituting a separate performance obligation.

        We generally estimate variable consideration at the most likely amount to which we expect to be entitled and in certain cases based on the expected value,
which requires judgment. We include estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable consideration and
determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based largely on an assessment of our anticipated performance and all
information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to us. We review and update these estimates on a quarterly basis.
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        The Company's typical performance obligations include the following:

Disaggregation of Revenue

        The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers into reportable segments and the nature of the products and services. See Note 12 for
our revenue by reportable segment.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Contract Balances

        We classify our right to consideration in exchange for goods and services as either a receivable or a contract asset. A receivable is a right to consideration
that is unconditional (i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment is due). We present such receivables in trade accounts receivable, net in our
consolidated balance sheet at their net estimated realizable value.

        The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to provide for the estimated amount of receivables that will not be collected. If warranted, the
allowance is increased by the Company's provision for doubtful accounts, which is charged against income. All recoveries on receivables previously charged
off are included in income, while direct charge-offs of receivables are deducted from the allowance.
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Performance Obligation  

When Performance
Obligation is Typically

Satisfied  
When Payment is

Typically Due  

How Standalone
Selling Price is

Typically Estimated
Product Revenues       

Standard purchase orders for
delivery of a tangible product

 
Upon shipment (point in time)  Within 30 days of delivery  Observable transactions

Engineering services where the
deliverable is considered a
product

 

As work is performed (over time)  
Within 30 days of services being
invoiced  

Estimated using a cost-plus margin
approach

Service Revenues       
Engineering and consulting

services
 

As work is performed (over time)  
Within 30 days of services being
invoiced  

Estimated using a cost-plus margin
approach

SaaS  Over the course of the SaaS service
once the system is available for use
(over time)  

At the beginning of the contract
period  

Estimated using a cost-plus margin
approach
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        A contract asset is a right to consideration that is conditional upon factors other than the passage of time. Contract assets are presented as unbilled
accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheet. For example, we would record a contract asset if we record revenue on a professional services
engagement, but are not entitled to bill until we achieve specified milestones.

        Our contract assets and refund liabilities are reported in a net position on a contract basis at the end of each reporting period. Refund liabilities are
consideration received in advance of the satisfaction of performance obligations.

Contract Fulfillment Costs

        The Company evaluates whether or not we should capitalize the costs of fulfilling a contract. Such costs would be capitalized when they are not within the
scope of other standards and: (1) are directly related to a contract; (2) generate or enhance resources that will be used to satisfy performance obligations; and
(3) are expected to be recovered. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, there was approximately $1,236,000 and $172,000, respectively, of contract fulfillment costs
which are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as prepaid and other current assets. These costs primarily relate to the satisfaction of
performance obligations related to the set up of SaaS platforms. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the SaaS
platform.

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

        As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was immaterial primarily as a
result of termination provisions within our contracts which make the duration of the accounting term of the contract one year or less.

Practical Expedients and Exemptions

        T&M and CPFF contracts are considered variable consideration. However, performance obligations with an underlying fee type of T&M or CPFF qualify
for the "Right to Invoice" Practical Expedient under ASC 606-10-55-18. Under this practical expedient, the Company is not required to estimate such variable
consideration upon inception of the contract and reassess the estimate each reporting period.

        The Company utilizes the practical expedient under ASC 606-10-50-14 of not disclosing information about its remaining performance obligations for
contracts with an original expected duration (i.e., contract term, determined based on the analysis of termination provisions described above) of 12 months or
less.

        The Company pays sales commissions on certain sales contracts. These costs are accrued in the same period that the revenues are recorded. Using the
practical expedient under ASC 340-40-25-4, the Company recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred since the
amortization period of the asset that the Company otherwise would have recognized is one year or less.

        The Company utilizes the practical expedient under ASC 606-10-25-18B to account for shipping and handling as fulfillment costs, and not a promised
service (a revenue element). Shipping and handling costs are included as cost of revenues in the period during which the products ship.
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        The Company excludes from the transaction price all sales taxes that are assessed by a governmental authority and that are imposed on and concurrent
with a specific revenue-producing transaction and collected from a customer (for example, sales, use, value added, and some excise taxes). This employs the
practical expedient under ASC 606-10-32-2A. Sales taxes are presented on a net basis (excluded from revenues) in the Company's consolidated statements of
operations.

Deferred Revenue

        Deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is comprised of refund liabilities related to billings and consideration received in
advance of the satisfaction of performance obligations.

Concentration of Credit Risk

        Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts
receivable.

        Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of demand deposits and money market funds maintained with several financial institutions. Deposits held with
banks may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed upon demand and are maintained with high
quality financial institutions, and therefore are believed to have minimal credit risk.

        Our accounts receivable are primarily derived from billings with customers located throughout North America, as well as in Europe, South America and
Asia. We generally do not require collateral or other security from our domestic customers. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for potential credit
losses, which losses have historically been within management's expectations.

        We currently have, and historically have had, a diverse customer base. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 ("Fiscal 2020"), no individual customer
represented greater than 10% of our total revenues. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2019 ("Fiscal 2019") and March 31, 2018 ("Fiscal 2018"), one
individual customer represented approximately 24% and 22%, respectively, of our total revenues. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, no individual customer
represented greater than 10% of our total accounts receivable.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

        The fair value of cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate carrying value because of the short period of time to
maturity. Our investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

        The framework for measuring fair value and related disclosure requirements about fair value measurements are provided in ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements ("ASC 820"). This pronouncement defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value
hierarchy proscribed by ASC 820 contains three levels as follows:

        Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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        Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets
or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of
the assets or liabilities.

        Level 3—Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management's estimate of assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

        Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments with initial maturities of 90 days or less.

        Restricted cash as of March 31, 2020 consisted of $146,000 related to cash restricted for shares purchased under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan
("ESPP") (see Note 9 for further details on the ESPP).

        Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash presented in the accompanying statements of cash flows consist of the following (in thousands):

Investments

        The Company's investments are classified as either held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or trading, in accordance with ASC 320. Held-to-maturity
securities are those securities that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold until maturity. Trading securities are those securities that the
Company intends to sell in the near term. All other securities not included in the held-to-maturity or trading category are classified as available-for-sale. Held-
to-maturity securities are recorded at amortized cost which approximates fair market value. Trading securities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and
losses charged to earnings. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded within accumulated other
comprehensive loss as a separate component of stockholders' equity. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which
requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs, where available (see Note 4). As of March 31, 2020, all of our investments are available-for-sale.

        Under ASC 320-10-35, a security is considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired if the present value of cash flows expected to be collected are less
than the security's amortized cost basis (the difference being defined as the "Credit Loss") or if the fair value of the security is less than the security's amortized
cost basis and the investor intends, or will be required, to sell the security before
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 14,217 $ 7,071 
Restricted cash   146  — 

 $ 14,363 $ 7,071 
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recovery of the security's amortized cost basis. If an other-than-temporary impairment exists, the charge to earnings is limited to the amount of Credit Loss if
the investor does not intend to sell the security, and will not be required to sell the security, before recovery of the security's amortized cost basis. Any
remaining difference between fair value and amortized cost is recognized in other comprehensive loss, net of applicable taxes. The Company evaluates whether
the decline in fair value of its investments is other-than-temporary at each quarter-end. This evaluation consists of a review by management, and includes
market pricing information and maturity dates for the securities held, market and economic trends in the industry and information on the issuer's financial
condition and, if applicable, information on the guarantors' financial condition. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is temporary include the
length of time and extent to which the investment's fair value has been less than its cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer and
guarantors, including any specific events which may influence the operations of the issuer and the Company's intent and ability to retain the investment for a
reasonable period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery of fair value.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

        The collectability of our accounts receivable is evaluated through review of outstanding invoices and ongoing credit evaluations of our customers'
financial condition. In cases where we are aware of circumstances that may impair a specific customer's ability to meet its financial obligations subsequent to
the original sale, we will record an allowance against amounts due, and thereby reduce the net recognized accounts receivable to the amount we reasonably
believe will be collected. We also maintain an allowance based on our historical collections experience. When we determine that collection is not likely, we
write off accounts receivable against the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventories

        Inventories consist of finished goods, work-in-process and raw materials and are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined
using the first-in, first-out method.

Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life ranging from three to eight
years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the term of the related lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is shorter.

Intangible Assets

        Intangible assets with determinable economic lives are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over the estimated useful
life of each asset on a straight-line basis. The Company determines the useful lives of identifiable intangible assets after considering the specific facts and
circumstances related to each intangible asset. Factors the Company considers when determining useful lives include the contractual term of any agreement
related to the asset, the historical performance of the asset, the Company's long-term strategy for using the asset, any laws or other local regulations which
could impact the useful life of the asset and other economic factors, including competition and specific market conditions.
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Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

        The Company has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less
than its carrying value. However, the Company may elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment tests. The
first step of the impairment test involves comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its net book value, including goodwill. If the net book value exceeds
its fair value, the Company would perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount of the impairment loss. We perform an
annual qualitative assessment of our goodwill during the fourth fiscal quarter, or more frequently, to determine if any events or circumstances exist, such as an
adverse change in business climate or a decline in overall industry demand, that would indicate that it would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount, including goodwill. If events or circumstances do not indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its
carrying amount, then goodwill is not considered to be impaired and no further testing is required, if otherwise, we compare the fair value of our reporting unit
to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, the amount by which the carrying
value of the goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, if any, is recognized as an impairment loss. We monitor the indicators for goodwill impairment testing
between annual tests. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, we determined that no adjustments to the carrying value of goodwill were required.

        We test long-lived assets and purchased intangible assets (other than goodwill) for impairment if we believe indicators of impairment exist. We determine
whether the carrying value of an asset or asset group is recoverable, based on comparisons to undiscounted expected future cash flows the asset or asset group
is expected to generate. If an asset is not recoverable, we record an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair
value. We primarily use the income valuation approach to determine the fair value of our long lived assets and purchased intangible assets. As of March 31,
2020 and 2019, there was no impairment to our long-lived and intangible assets.

Income Taxes

        We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, under which deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis differences
reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, which increases our
income tax expense in the period such determination is made. As such, we determined it was appropriate to record a full valuation allowance against our
deferred tax assets. We will continuously reassess the appropriateness of maintaining a valuation allowance.

        Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized. Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the
more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax
positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no
longer met.
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Stock-Based Compensation

        We record stock-based compensation in our consolidated statements of operations as an expense, based on the estimated grant date fair value of our stock-
based awards, whereby such fair values are amortized over the requisite service period. Our stock-based awards are currently comprised of common stock
options and restricted stock units. The fair value of our common stock option awards is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-
pricing formula. While utilizing this model meets established requirements, the estimated fair values generated by it may not be indicative of the actual fair
values of our common stock option awards as it does not consider certain factors important to those awards to employees, such as continued employment and
periodic vesting requirements, as well as limited transferability. The fair value of our restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of our common
stock on the grant date. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested stock-based awards, we may be required to accelerate,
increase or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense.

Research and Development Expenditures

        Research and development expenditures are charged to expense in the period incurred.

Shipping and Handling Costs

        Shipping and handling costs are included as cost of revenues in the period during which the products ship.

Sales Taxes

        Sales taxes are presented on a net basis (excluded from revenues) in the consolidated statements of operations.

Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

        We determine if an arrangement contains a lease at inception and determine the classification of the lease, as either operating or finance, at
commencement.

        Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recorded based on the present value of future lease payments which factors in certain qualifying initial direct
costs incurred as well as any lease incentives received. If an implicit rate is not readily determinable, we utilize inputs from third-party lenders to determine the
appropriate discount rate. Lease expense for operating lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Finance leases incur interest
expense using the effective interest method in addition to amortization of the leased asset on straight-line basis, both over the applicable lease term. Lease
terms may factor in options to extend or terminate the lease.

        We adhere to the short-term lease recognition exemption for all classes of assets (i.e. facilities and equipment). As a result, leases with an initial term of
twelve months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In addition, for certain equipment
leases, we account for lease and non-lease components, such as services, as a single lease component as permitted.
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Warranty

        We generally provide a one to three year warranty from the original invoice date on all products, materials and workmanship. Products sold to various
original equipment manufacturer customers sometimes carry longer warranties. Defective products will be either repaired or replaced, usually at our option,
upon meeting certain criteria. We accrue a provision for the estimated costs that may be incurred for product warranties relating to a product as a component of
cost of sales at the time revenue for that product is recognized. The accrued warranty reserve is included within accrued liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. We do not provide any service-type warranties.

Repair and Maintenance Costs

        We incur repair and maintenance costs in the normal course of business. Should the repair or maintenance result in a permanent improvement to one of our
leased facilities, the cost is capitalized as a leasehold improvement and amortized over its useful life or the remainder of the lease period, whichever is shorter.
Non-permanent repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Comprehensive Loss

        The difference between net loss and comprehensive loss was de minimis for the Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019, and Fiscal 2018.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases ("ASU 2016-02"). ASU No. 2016-02 establishes a right-of-use model that requires a lessee
to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either
"finance" or "operating," with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. This update was effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-02, on April 1, 2019, the Company
recognized (a) an operating lease liability of $14.2 million, which represents the present value of our remaining lease payments and (b) a related right-of-use
asset of $13.4 million. In addition, the Company derecognized approximately $827,000 of deferred rent liability. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 did not have a
material impact on the Company's statement of operations, cash flows, or stockholders' equity. Due to the adoption of the standard using the modified
retrospective cumulative-effect adjustment method, there are no changes to our previously reported results prior to April 1, 2019. See Note 7, Right-of-Use
Assets and Lease Liabilities, for additional details.

        In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—
Changes to the Disclosure Requirement for Fair Value Measurements ("ASU 2018-13"), which modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value
measurements. This update is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is
permitted. We have completed our preliminary assessment and do not anticipate this pronouncement will have a significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements upon adoption.

        In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal Use Software (subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting
for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud
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Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract ("ASU 2018-15"), which clarifies the accounting for implementation costs in cloud computing
arrangements. This update is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is
permitted. We have completed our preliminary assessment and do not anticipate this pronouncement will have a significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements upon adoption.

        In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.
This update requires that certain financial assets be measured at amortized cost net of an allowance for estimated credit losses such that the net receivable
represents the present value of expected cash collection. In addition, this standard update requires that certain financial assets be measured at amortized cost
reflecting an allowance for estimated credit losses expected to occur over the life of the assets. The estimate of credit losses must be based on all relevant
information including historical information, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the amounts. In
November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) and Leases (Topic
842): Effective Dates, which defers the effective date of ASU 2016-13 to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 for all entities except SEC reporting
companies that are not smaller reporting companies. As a smaller reporting company, ASU 2016-13 will now be effective for our fiscal year 2024 beginning
April 1, 2023; however, early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the timing and impact of adopting ASU 2016-13 on our consolidated financial
statements.

        In July 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-07, "Codification Updates to SEC Sections". This update simplifies the guidance in various sections that was
duplicative, redundant or outdated. The Company adopted this update effective July 2019. It did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements upon adoption.

        In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The ASU removes
certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. This ASU is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within that fiscal year, with early adoption permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this ASU, however we do not anticipate this pronouncement will have a significant impact on our consolidated financial
statements upon adoption.

2. Supplementary Financial Information

Inventories

        The following table presents details regarding our inventories:
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  March 31,  
  2020  2019  
  (In thousands)  
Materials and supplies  $ 1,380 $ 1,517 
Work in process   162  356 
Finished goods   1,498  1,043 

 $ 3,040 $ 2,916 
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Property and Equipment, net

        The following table presents details of our property and equipment, net:

        Depreciation expense was approximately $848,000, $854,000 and $819,000 in Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, respectively. Approximately
$291,000, $286,000 and $288,000 of the depreciation expense was recorded to cost of revenues, and approximately $557,000, $568,000 and $531,000 was
recorded to operating expenses in Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations.

Intangible Assets

        The following table presents details regarding our intangible assets:

        Amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization was approximately $1.5 million, $1.1 million and $726,000 for Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019
and Fiscal 2018, respectively. Approximately $736,000, $850,000 and $638,000 of the intangible asset amortization was recorded to cost of revenues, and
approximately $757,000, $275,000 and $88,000 was recorded to amortization expense for Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, respectively, in the
consolidated statements of operations. The weighted average remaining useful lives of the intangible assets as of March 31, 2020 is 5.3 years.

        We do not have any intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Our net customer contracts/relationships have a useful life of 6 years beginning Fiscal
2020. Our net tradenames and non-compete agreements have a useful life of 3 years beginning Fiscal 2020. Our net capitalized software development costs of
approximately $2.9 million and $3.3 million primarily consisted of our Oracle Enterprise Resource Planning ("ERP") system design and implementation of
approximately
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  March 31,  
  2020  2019  
  (In thousands)  
Equipment  $ 7,134 $ 6,444 
Leasehold improvements   3,009  2,939 
Accumulated depreciation   (8,201)  (7,418)

 $ 1,942 $ 1,965 

  March 31, 2020  March 31, 2019  

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Book
Value  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Book
Value  

  (In thousands)  
Technology  $ 1,856 $ (1,856) $ — $ 1,856 $ (1,856) $ — 
Customer contracts / relationships   4,250  (1,188)  3,062  750  (750)  — 
Trade names and non-compete agreements   1,320  (1,163)  157  1,110  (1,110)  — 
Capitalized software development costs   6,400  (3,482)  2,918  5,768  (2,482)  3,286 

Total  $ 13,826 $ (7,689) $ 6,137 $ 9,484 $ (6,198) $ 3,286 
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$1.9 million and $2.2 million as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which has a useful life of 10 years beginning Fiscal 2019.

        As of March 31, 2020, the future estimated amortization expense is as follows:

Goodwill

        The following table presents the carrying value of our goodwill by reportable segments for Fiscal 2018, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2020:
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Year Ending March 31,    
(In thousands)    
2021  $ 1,419 
2022   1,234 
2023   1,010 
2024   879 
2025   849 
Thereafter   746 

 $ 6,137 

  
Roadway
Sensors  

Transportation
Systems  

Ag & Weather
Analytics  Total  

  (In thousands)  
Balance—March 31, 2018              
Goodwill  $ 8,214 $ 14,906 $ 2,168 $ 25,288 
Accumulated impairment losses   —  (7,970)  (2,168)  (10,138)

 $ 8,214 $ 6,936 $ — $ 15,150 
Balance—March 31, 2019              
Goodwill  $ 8,214 $ 14,906 $ 2,168 $ 25,288 
Accumulated impairment losses   —  (7,970)  (2,168)  (10,138)

 $ 8,214 $ 6,936 $ — $ 15,150 
Balance—March 31, 2020              
Goodwill  $ 8,214 $ 14,906 $ 2,168 $ 25,288 
Acquired goodwill (see Note 11)   —  5,440  —  5,440 
Accumulated impairment losses   —  (7,970)  (2,168)  (10,138)

 $ 8,214 $ 12,376 $ — $ 20,590 
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Warranty Reserve Activity

        The following table presents activity with respect to the warranty reserve:

Earnings Per Share

        The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss from continuing operations per share:

        The following instruments were excluded for purposes of calculating weighted average common share equivalents in the computation of diluted loss per
share from continuing operations as their effect would have been anti-dilutive:
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Balance at beginning of fiscal year  $ 463 $ 403 $ 278 

Additions charged to cost of sales   649  647  623 
Warranty claims   (696)  (587)  (498)

Balance at end of fiscal year  $ 416 $ 463 $ 403 

  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  

  
(In thousands, except per

share amounts)  
Numerator:           

Loss from continuing operations  $ (5,610) $ (7,816) $ (3,768)
Gain on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax   —  —  242 
Net loss  $ (5,610) $ (7,816) $ (3,526)

Denominator:           
Weighted average common shares used in basic and diluted

computation   39,012  33,266  32,776 
Loss from continuing operations per share:           

Basic  $ (0.14) $ (0.23) $ (0.12)
Diluted  $ (0.14) $ (0.23) $ (0.12)

  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Stock options   6,190  5,056  3,917 
Restricted stock units   110  12  228 
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3. Sale of Vehicle Sensors

        On July 29, 2011, we completed the sale (the "Asset Sale") of substantially all of our assets used in connection with our prior Vehicle Sensors segment to
Bendix Commercial Vehicle Systems LLC ("Bendix"), a member of Knorr Bremse Group. In connection with the Asset Sale, we are entitled to additional
consideration in the form of the following performance and royalty related earn-outs: Bendix was obligated to pay us an amount in cash equal to 85% of
revenue associated with royalties received under our license and distribution agreements with Audiovox Electronics Corporation and Valeo Schalter and
Sensoren GmbH through December 31, 2017, subject to certain reductions and limitations set forth in the asset purchase agreement. From the date of the Asset
Sale, through March 31, 2019, we received approximately $2.7 million in connection with royalty-related earn-outs provisions for a total of $18 million in cash
received from the Asset Sale.

        In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, we determined that the Vehicle Sensors segment, which constituted one of our operating segments,
qualified as a discontinued operation. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019, and 2018, we recorded a gain on sale of discontinued
operation of approximately $0, $0 and $242,000, respectively, net of tax, related to the earn-out provisions of the asset purchase agreement.

4. Fair Value Measurements

        We measure fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Fair value measurements are
based on a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. These tiers include:

        Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

        Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

        Level 3—Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management's estimate of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing
the asset or liability.

        We did not have any material financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs as of March 31, 2020 or 2019.
Our non-financial assets, such as goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipment, and acquired assets and liabilities assumed are measured at fair value on
a non-recurring basis, generally when there is a transaction involving those assets such as a purchase transaction, a business combination or an adjustment for
impairment. In Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, Level 3 inputs were used to evaluate the fair value of our goodwill in our two reporting units that had
goodwill balances. No other non-financial assets were measured at fair value during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31,
2018.
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        The following tables present the Company's financial assets that are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, segregated among the appropriate levels
within the fair value hierarchy:

 

        Unrealized losses related to these investments are due to interest rate fluctuations as opposed to credit quality. In addition, we do not intend to sell, and it
is not more likely than not that we would be required to sell, these investments before recovery of their cost basis. As a result, there is no other-than-temporary
impairment for these investments as of March 31, 2020.
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  As of March 31, 2020  

  
Amortized

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Loss  

Gross
Unrealized

Gain  
Estimated
Fair Value  

  (In thousands)  
Level 1:              
Money market funds  $ 10,576 $ (1) $ — $ 10,575 

Subtotal   10,576  (1)  —  10,575 
Level 2:              
Commercial paper   1,495  (1)  —  1,494 
Corporate notes and bonds   6,044  (22)  —  6,022 
US Treasuries   3,013  —  20  3,033 
US Government agencies   1,007  —  —  1,007 

Subtotal   11,559  (23)  20  11,556 
Total  $ 22,135 $ (24) $ 20 $ 22,131 

  As of March 31, 2019  

  
Amortized

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Loss  

Gross
Unrealized

Gain  
Estimated
Fair Value  

  (In thousands)  
Level 1:              
Money market funds  $ 3,338 $ — $ — $ 3,338 

Subtotal   3,338  —  —  3,338 
Level 2:              
Commercial paper      —  —  — 
Corporate notes and bonds   1,434  (1)  —  1,433 
US Treasuries   502  —  —  502 

Subtotal   1,936  (1)  —  1,935 
Total  $ 5,274 $ (1) $ — $ 5,273 
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        The components of current and deferred federal and state income tax (benefits) provision are as follows:

        The reconciliation of our income tax (benefit) provision to taxes computed at U.S. federal statutory rates is as follows:
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes  $ (5,450) $ (7,780) $ (5,586)

Current income tax provision:           
Federal   —  —  3 
State   34  36  45 
Total current tax provision   34  36  48 

Deferred income tax benefit:           
Federal   105  —  (1,849)
State   21  —  (17)

Total deferred benefit provision   126  —  (1,866)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes on continued operations   160  36  (1,818)
Loss from continuing operations, net of taxes  $ (5,610) $ (7,816) $ (3,768)

  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Benefit for income taxes at statutory rates  $ (1,095) $ (1,634) $ (1,720)
Change in federal tax rate   —  —  4,134 
State income taxes net of federal benefit   (198)  (620)  (255)
Tax credits   (658)  (343)  (567)
Compensation charges   151  199  (324)
Change in valuation allowance   1,913  2,385  (3,153)
Other   47  49  67 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes  $ 160 $ 36 $ (1,818)
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        The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

        At March 31, 2020, we had $551,000 in federal alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards, which were classified as a current income tax receivable
included in the prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. We also had $2.5 million in federal research credits
that begin to expire in 2031 and $1.3 million in state tax credits that begin to expire in 2023. We had $10.7 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards
at March 31, 2020 that do not expire as a result of recent tax law changes. We had $7.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards at March 31, 2020
that begin to expire in 2038. We also had $8.7 million of state net operating loss carryforwards at March 31, 2020 that begin to expire in 2036.

        In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets, we review all available positive and negative evidence, including reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
potential carrybacks, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. As the Company has sustained a cumulative
pre-tax loss over the trailing three years, we considered it appropriate to maintain valuation allowances of $14.2 million and $12.3 million against our deferred
tax assets at March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We will continuously reassess the appropriateness of maintaining a valuation allowance.

        On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in response to the Pandemic. The CARES Act
contains numerous income tax provisions, such as relaxing limitations on the deductibility of interest and the use of net operating losses arising in taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2017. The CARES Act allows net operating losses incurred
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  March 31,  
  2020  2019  
  (In thousands)  
Deferred tax assets:        

Net operating losses  $ 4,284 $ 5,335 
Capitalized R&D   3,520  2,347 
Credit carry forwards   3,510  2,806 
Deferred compensation and payroll   2,304  1,655 
Bad debt allowance and other reserves   656  618 
Deferred rent   —  202 
Operating leases   219  — 
Property and equipment   60  139 
Other, net   556  309 

Total deferred tax assets   15,109  13,411 
Valuation allowance   (14,163)  (12,250)

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance   946  1,161 
Deferred tax liabilities:        

Acquired intangibles   (596)  (759)
Goodwill   (540)  (467)

Total deferred tax liabilities   (1,136)  (1,226)
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ (190) $ (65)
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in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years to generate a refund of previously paid income taxes. The income tax
provisions of the CARES Act had an immaterial impact on our current taxes, deferred taxes, and uncertain tax positions of the Company.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

        As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, our gross unrecognized tax benefits were approximately $952,000 and $687,000, respectively, of which approximately
$861,000, and $580,000, respectively, are netted against certain noncurrent deferred tax assets. The amounts that would affect our effective tax rate if
recognized are approximately $840,000 and $609,000, respectively.

        A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

        We do not anticipate a significant change in gross unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months. We are subject to taxation in the U.S. and
various state tax jurisdictions. We are subject to U.S. federal tax examination for fiscal tax years ended March 31, 2017 or later, and state and local income tax
examination for fiscal tax years ended March 31, 2016 or later. However, if net operating loss carryforwards that originated in earlier tax years are utilized in
the future, the amount of such NOLs from such earlier years remain subject to review by tax authorities.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Other Contingencies

        As a provider of traffic engineering services, hardware products, software and other various solutions for the traffic and agricultural industries, the
Company is, and may in the future from time to time, be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of business.
While the Company cannot accurately predict the outcome of any such litigation, the Company is not a party to any legal proceeding, the outcome of which, in
management's opinion, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations, financial position or
cash flows.

Related Party Transaction

        We previously subleased office space to Maxxess Systems, Inc. ("Maxxess"), one of our former subsidiaries that we sold in September 2003. The sublease
terminated in September 2007, at which time
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year  $ 687 $ 586 $ 426 
Increases for tax positions taken in prior years   101  2  62 
Decreases for tax positions taken in prior years   —  —  — 
Increases for tax positions taken in the current year   180  116  122 
Lapse in statute of limitations   (16)  (17)  (24)
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at March 31  $ 952 $ 687 $ 586 
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Maxxess owed us an aggregate of $274,000. Maxxess executed a promissory note for such amount, which was subsequently amended and restated on July 23,
2013, August 11, 2016 and on August 11, 2018. The amended and restated note bears interest at a rate of 6% per annum, compounded annually, with accrued
interest payable annually on the first business day of each calendar year. When authorized by the Company, Maxxess may pay down the balance of this note by
providing consulting services to Iteris. We had previously fully reserved for amounts owed to us by Maxxess. During Fiscal 2020, the full amount due was paid
to the Company, and a gain of approximately $146,000 was recognized in other income on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of
March 31, 2020, no amounts are outstanding and payable to Iteris. Maxxess is currently owned by an investor group that includes, among others, two former
Iteris directors, who have not been directors of Iteris since September 2013 and March 2020. These former directors currently own less than 2% of Maxxess'
capital stock.

7. Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

        We have various operating leases for our offices, office equipment and vehicles in the United States. These leases expire at various times through 2029.
Certain lease agreements contain renewal options from 1 to 5 years, rent abatement, and escalation clauses that are factored into our determination of lease
payments when appropriate.

        Through March 31, 2019, we recognized rent expense related to operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term and, accordingly, recorded the
difference between rent payments and rent expense as a deferred rent liability. Effective April 1, 2019, we adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases, or ASC 842.

        The table below presents lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as follows:

Lease Costs

        For Fiscal 2020, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, lease costs totaled approximately $2.6 million, $1.9 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The Company
currently has no variable lease costs.
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  Classification  March 31, 2020  
    (In thousands)  
Assets       

Operating lease right-of-use-assets  Right-of-use assets  $ 13,044 
Liabilities       

Operating lease liabilities (short-term)  Accrued liabilities  $ 1,935 
Operating lease liabilities (long-term)  Lease liabilities   11,995 

Total lease liabilities    $ 13,930 
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Supplemental Information

        The table below presents supplemental information related to operating leases during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 (in thousands, except weighted
average information):

Undiscounted Cash Flows

        The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years to the operating lease liabilities
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2020:

Disclosure Related to Periods Prior to Adoption of New Lease Standard

        Minimum lease payments under operating leases with non-cancelable terms in excess of one year as of March 31, 2019, were as follows:
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Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities  $ 2,608 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities  $ 581 
Weighted average remaining lease term   7.0 
Weighted average discount rate   5.0%

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,    
(In thousands)    
2021  $ 2,577 
2022   2,457 
2023   2,326 
2024   2,248 
2025   2,062 
Thereafter   4,852 
Total lease payments   16,522 
Less imputed interest   (2,592)
Present value of future lease payments   13,930 
Less current obligations under leases   (1,935)
Long-term lease obligations  $ 11,995 

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,    
(In thousands)    
2020  $ 2,408 
2021   2,150 
2022   1,981 
2023   548 
2024   177 
Thereafter   — 
Total minimum lease payments  $ 7,264 
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8. Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

        Our certificate of incorporation provides for the issuance of up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue from
time to time such authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix or alter the designations, preferences, rights and any
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of each such series, including the dividend, conversion, voting, redemption and liquidation rights. As of
March 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no outstanding shares of preferred stock, and we do not currently have plans to issue any shares of preferred stock.

        In August 2009, our Board of Directors adopted a stockholder rights plan, which calls for preferred stock purchase rights (each, a "Right") to be
distributed, as a dividend, at the rate of one Right for each share of common stock held as of September 3, 2009. Each Right will entitle holders of common
stock to buy one one-thousandth of one share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Iteris. A further description and terms of the Rights are set
forth in the Rights Agreement dated August 20, 2009 (as amended in August 2012) by and between Iteris and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
("Computershare"), as rights agent. In connection with the stockholder rights plan, our Board of Directors approved the adoption of a Certificate of
Designations, which created the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, and likewise authorized the filing of a Certification of Elimination to eliminate
the two series of junior participating preferred stock, which were originally created in April 1998 in connection with our previous stockholder rights plan which
expired in 2008. Effective on September 28, 2018, an amendment was entered into by and between Iteris and Computershare to accelerate the expiration of the
Rights from August 20, 2019 to September 28, 2019, wherein all of the Rights distributed to the holders of the Company's common stock pursuant to the
Rights Agreement expired.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

        The following summarizes common stock reserved for future issuance at March 31, 2020:

9. Employee Benefit Plans

Stock Incentive Plans

        In September 2007, our stockholders approved the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2007 Plan"), which provides that options to purchase shares of our
unissued common stock may be granted to our employees, officers, consultants and directors at exercise prices which are equal to or greater than the market
value of our common stock on the date of grant. The 2007 Plan also allows for the issuance of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units
("RSUs") and other stock-based awards based on the value of our common stock. New shares are issued to satisfy stock option
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  Number of Shares  
  (In thousands)  
Stock options outstanding   5,934 
Restricted stock units outstanding   404 
Authorized for future issuance under stock incentive plans   1,691 

  8,029 
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exercises and share issuances under the 2007 Plan. In September 2009, our stockholders approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of our
common stock authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan by 800,000 shares to a total of 1,650,000 shares. In September 2012, our stockholders
approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of our common stock authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan by 800,000 shares to
a total of 2,450,000 shares. In October 2014, our stockholders approved an amendment of the 2007 Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock
authorized for issuance under the 2007 Plan by an additional 1,500,000 shares to a total of 3,950,000 shares. In September 2015, our stockholders approved an
amendment of the 2007 Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2007 Plan by an additional 1,000,000 shares
to a total of 4,950,000 shares. In December 2016, our stockholders approved the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2016 Plan") which allows for the issuance
of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, cash incentive awards and other stock-based awards to our employees, officers, consultants
and directors at exercise prices which are equal to or greater than the market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Options expire no more than ten
years after the date of grant and generally vest at the rate of 25% on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date. Stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock, RSUs and other stock-based awards are based on the value of our common stock. New shares are issued to satisfy stock option exercises and share
issuances under the 2016 Plan.

        We currently maintain two stock incentive plans, the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan and the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2016 Plan"). Of these
plans, we may only grant future awards from the 2016 Plan. The 2016 Plan allows for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units ("RSUs"), cash incentive awards and other stock-based awards. At March 31, 2020, there were approximately 1.7 million shares of
common stock available for grant or issuance under the 2016 Plan. Total stock options vested and expected to vest were approximately 5.9 million as of
March 31, 2020.

Stock Options

        A summary of activity in the Plans with respect to our stock options for Fiscal 2020 is as follows:
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  Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per

Share  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
  (In thousands)    (Years)  (In thousands)  
Options outstanding at March 31, 2019   5,035 $ 3.70  7.6 $ 4,430 

Granted   1,206  5.06       
Exercised   (119)  2.13       
Forfeited   (188)  4.94       
Expired   —  —       

Options outstanding at March 31, 2020   5,934 $ 3.99  7.2 $ 2,095 
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Restricted Stock Units

        RSU awards are stock-based awards that entitle the holder to receive one share of our common stock for each RSU upon vesting. RSUs granted under the
2007 Plan vest at the rate of 25% on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date provided that the holder remains in service (as defined by the 2007
Plan) as of the vesting date. RSUs granted under the 2016 Plan vest at varying terms between one and four anniversaries of the grant date provided that the
holder remains in service (as defined by the 2016 Plan) as of the vesting date. The fair value per RSU is determined based on the closing market price of our
common stock on the grant date.

        A summary of activity with respect to our RSUs for Fiscal 2020 is as follows:

Stock-Based Compensation

        The following table presents stock-based compensation expense that is included in each functional line item in our consolidated statements of operations:

        At March 31, 2020, there was approximately $5.5 million and $1.5 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options and
RSUs, respectively. This expense is currently expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.9 years for stock options and
2.0 years for RSUs. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested awards, we may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any
remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense. Future stock based compensation expense and unearned stock-based compensation will increase to the
extent that we grant additional stock options, RSUs or other stock-based awards.
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  # of Shares  

Weighted
Average
Price Per

Share  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
  (In thousands)    (Years)  (In thousands)  
RSUs outstanding at March 31, 2019   112 $ 4.62  1.1 $ 19 

Granted   374  5.12       
Vested   (78)  4.17       
Forfeited   (4)  5.52       

RSUs outstanding at March 31, 2020   404 $ 5.16  2.0 $ 1,295 

  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Cost of revenues  $ 175 $ 146 $ 71 
Selling, general and administrative expense   2,364  1,804  1,558 
Research and development expense   246  206  152 

Total stock-based compensation  $ 2,785 $ 2,156 $ 1,781 



Table of Contents

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31, 2020

9. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

        The grant date fair value of stock options granted was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions:

        Expected Life:    The Company's expected life represents the weighted-average period that the Company's stock options are expected to be outstanding.
The expected life is based on expected time to post-vesting exercise of options by employees. The Company uses historical exercise patterns of previously
granted options to derive employee behavioral patterns used to forecast expected exercise patterns.

        Risk-Free Interest Rate:    The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected
term of the option.

        Expected Volatility:    The Company uses historical volatility as it provides a reasonable estimate of the expected volatility. Historical volatility is based on
the most recent volatility of the stock price over a period of time equivalent to the expected term of the option.

        A summary of certain fair value and intrinsic value information pertaining to our stock options is as follows:

Employee Incentive Programs

        Under the terms of a Profit Sharing Plan, we may contribute to a trust fund such amounts as determined annually by the Board of Directors. No
contributions were made during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

        We sponsor a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the "401(k) Plan"), adopted in 1990, under which eligible employees voluntarily contribute to the plan, up
to IRS maximums, through payroll deductions. We match up to 50% of contributions, up to a stated limit, with all matching contributions being fully vested
after three years of service. Our matching contributions under the 401(k) Plan were approximately $1,317,000, $1,185,000 and $1,067,000 for the Fiscal 2020,
Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, respectively.
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
Expected life—years   6.8  5.9  6.5 
Risk-free interest rate   2.2%  2.7%  2.7%
Expected volatility of common stock   47%  43%  43%
Dividend yield   0%  0%  0%

  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  

  
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)  

Weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted  $ 2.52 $ 1.89 $ 2.59 
Intrinsic value of options exercised  $ 378 $ 114 $ 2,469 
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March 31, 2020

9. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

Other Stock-Based Compensation Plans

        Beginning January 1, 2018, the Company adopted an ESPP which allows employees to withhold a percentage of their base compensation to purchase the
Company's common stock at 95% of the lower of the fair market at the beginning of the offering period and on the last trading day of the offering period. There
are two offering periods during a calendar year, which consist of the six months beginning each January 1 and July 1. Employees may contribute 1-15% of their
eligible gross pay up to a $25,000 annual stock value limit. During Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, 91,000 and 92,000 shares, respectively, were purchased. There
were no share purchases in Fiscal 2018. The ESPP is considered a non-compensatory plan and accordingly no compensation expense is recorded in connection
with this benefit.

        As of March 31, 2020, approximately $146,000 of cash was restricted for the purchase of shares under the ESPP and is recorded as restricted cash in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

10. Stock Repurchase Program

        In August 2011, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program pursuant to which we were authorized to acquire up to $3 million of our
outstanding common stock from time to time through August 2012. We repurchased approximately 964,000 shares under this original program for a total
purchase price of $1.3 million. On August 9, 2012, our Board of Directors cancelled the initial stock repurchase program and the approximate $1.7 million of
remaining funds, and approved a new stock repurchase program pursuant to which we may acquire up to $3 million of our outstanding common stock for an
unspecified length of time. Under the new program, we may repurchase shares from time to time in open market and privately negotiated transactions and
block trades, and may also repurchase shares pursuant to a 10b5-1 trading plan during our closed trading windows. There is no guarantee as to the exact
number of shares that will be repurchased. We may modify or terminate the repurchase program at any time without prior notice. On November 6, 2014, our
Board of Directors approved a $3.0 million increase to the Company's existing stock repurchase program, pursuant to which the Company may continue to
acquire shares of its outstanding common stock from time to time for an unspecified length of time.

        For our fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 we did not repurchase any shares. From inception of the program in August 2011 through
March 31, 2020, we repurchased approximately 3,422,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate price of approximately $5.6 million, at an average
price per share of $1.63. As of March 31, 2020, all repurchased shares have been retired and returned to their status as authorized and unissued shares of our
common stock. As of March 31, 2020, approximately $1.7 million remains available for the repurchase of our common stock under our current program.

11. Acquisition

        On July 2, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of AGI, a privately-held professional transportation engineering services firm headquartered in
Tampa, Florida, with offices in Orlando (FL), Virginia Beach (VA) and Chadds Ford (PA). AGI assists municipalities in maximizing the effectiveness of their
existing transportation networks through a collection of traffic management services to cost effectively improve the performance of roadway systems and
address increased traffic demands, traffic congestion and delay. With a foundation of arterial timing plan development, AGI has expanded its
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11. Acquisition (Continued)

services into active arterial monitoring and management with multiple public sector clients. AGI is expected to expand the Company's geographic footprint for
ITS services in Florida, as well as in the Midwest and Mid-Atlantic region. AGI's typical contracts are for traffic operations professional engineering services
focused on transportation systems management and operations.

        Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2019 among the Company, AGI and the stockholders of AGI (the "Selling Shareholders"), the
Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of AGI from the Selling Shareholders for an aggregate purchase price of $10.8 million, after working
capital adjustments, payable in cash and stock, of which 114,943 shares are being held in escrow for 18 months to secure performance of indemnification and
other post-closing obligations of the Selling Shareholders.

        Since the date of acquisition AGI operated as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as part of the Transportation Systems segment, and contributed
approximately $6.4 million of service revenue and approximately $1.7 million of net income.

        The acquisition of AGI has been accounted for as a business combination. We estimated the fair values of net assets acquired, and the excess of the
consideration transferred over the aggregate of such fair values was recorded as goodwill.

        The following tables summarize the purchase price allocation (in thousands) as of July 2, 2019:

        The fair values of the remaining AGI assets and liabilities noted above approximate their carrying values at July 2, 2019. There was no difference between
the fair value of trade accounts receivables and the gross contractual value of those receivables. There are no contractual cash flows related to these receivables
that are not expected to be collected. The Company believes the goodwill related to the acquisition was a result of the ability of the Company to leverage its
technology in the broader market, as well as offering cross-selling market exposure opportunities. Goodwill from the acquisition of AGI is included within the
Company's Transportation Systems reporting unit. The goodwill is fully deductible for tax purposes. The significant intangible assets identified in the purchase
price allocation include customer relationships and non-compete agreements, which are amortized over their respective useful
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Cash  $ 664 
Trade accounts receivable   905 
Unbilled accounts receivable   347 
Right-of-use assets   863 
Property and equipment   357 
Intangible assets   3,710 
Goodwill   5,440 
Other assets   161 

Total assets acquired   12,447 
Accounts payable   (378)
Accrued payroll and related expenses   (426)
Lease liabilities   (863)

Total liabilities assumed   (1,667)
Total purchase price  $ 10,780 
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11. Acquisition (Continued)

lives on a straight line basis which approximates the underlying cash flows. To value the customer relationships, the Company utilized the income approach,
specifically a discounted cash-flow method known as the excess earnings method. The Company utilized the with and without method to derive the fair value
of the non-compete agreement. The fair value estimates are based on a complex series of judgments about future events and uncertainties and rely heavily on
estimates and assumptions. Varying discount rates were applied to the projected net cash flows and EBITDA as applicable to valuation methodology. We
believe the assumptions are representative of those a market participant would use in estimating fair value.

        The following table presents the fair values and useful lives of the identifiable intangible assets acquired:

Acquisition-Related Costs

        In connection with the acquisition, the Company agreed to grant $1.7 million in retention bonuses to the Selling Shareholders and other employees
payable in the form of restricted stock units at $5.22 per share, and $570,000 in retention bonuses payable in cash, each vesting and payable over three years
following the closing, provided such employees remain in our service on the first, second and third anniversary of the closing of the acquisition. For the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded approximately $1.0 million, as stock based compensation and salaries expense to selling, general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations, related to these bonuses. Additionally, approximately $689,000, in acquisition related
professional fees was recorded to selling, general and administrative expense for the year ended March 31, 2020.

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

        The following pro forma information presents the consolidated results of operations of the Company and AGI for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020
and 2019, as if the acquisition of AGI had been completed on April 1, 2018. These pro forma consolidated financial results have been prepared for comparative
purposes only and include certain adjustments that reflect pro forma results of operations, such as increased amortization for the fair value of acquired
intangible assets and increased salaries expense related to the retention bonuses. The pro forma results do not reflect any operating efficiencies or potential cost
savings that may result from the consolidation of the operations of the Company and AGI. Accordingly, these pro forma results are presented for informational
purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that actually would have
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  Amount  
Weighted Average

Useful Life
  (in thousands)  (in years)
Customer relationships  $ 3,500 6
Non-compete agreement   210 3

Total intangible assets assumed  $ 3,710  
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11. Acquisition (Continued)

been achieved had the acquisition occurred as of April 1, 2018, nor are they intended to represent or be indicative of future results of operations:

12. Business Segments, Significant Customer and Geographic Information

Business Segments

        We have operated in three reportable segments: Roadway Sensors, Transportation Systems, and Agriculture and Weather Analytics.

        The Roadway Sensors segment provides various advanced detection sensors and systems for traffic intersection management, communication systems and
roadway traffic data collection applications. The Roadways Sensors product line uses advanced image processing technology and other techniques to capture
and analyze sensor data through sophisticated algorithms, enabling vehicle, bicycle and pedestrian detection, as well as the transmission of both video images
and data using various communication technologies. Our Roadway Sensors products include, among others, Vantage, VantageLive!, Vantage Next®,
VantagePegasus, VantageRadius, Vantage Vector, Velocity, SmartCycle, SmartCycle Bike Indicator, SmartSpan, VersiCam, PedTrax and P-Series products. In
select territories, our Roadway Sensors segment also sells OEM products for the traffic intersection markets, which include, among other things, traffic signal
controllers and traffic signal equipment cabinets.

        The Transportation Systems segment includes engineering and consulting services, managed services, performance measurement and traffic analytics
solutions, as well as the development of transportation management and traveler information systems for the ITS industry. Our Transportation Systems services
include planning, design, development and implementation of software and hardware-based ITS systems that integrate sensors, video surveillance, computers
and advanced communications equipment to enable public agencies to monitor, control and direct traffic flow, assist in the quick dispatch of emergency crews,
and distribute real-time information about traffic conditions. Our services include planning, design, implementation, operation and management of surface
transportation infrastructure systems. We perform analysis and study goods movement, commercial vehicle operations, provide travel demand forecasting and
systems engineering, and identify mitigation measures to reduce traffic congestion. The Transportation Systems segment also includes the operations of AGI
beginning July 2, 2019 (see Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for further details on the
acquisition of AGI). The Transportations Systems segment product line includes: Iteris Signal Performance Measures ("SPM"), Iteris ClearGuide, and iPeMS,
our performance measurement and analytics solution, our advanced traveler information system solutions ClearPath 511 and Reverse 511, as well as our
commercial vehicle operations and vehicle safety compliance platforms known as ClearFleet, CVIEW-Plus, CheckPoint, UCRLink and inspect.
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  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  
Proforma revenue  $ 116,333 $ 107,049 
Proforma net loss   (5,775)  (7,108)

Pro forma loss per common stock        
Basic   (0.14)  (0.21)
Diluted   (0.14)  (0.21)
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12. Business Segments, Significant Customer and Geographic Information (Continued)

        The Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, which we sold in May 2020, consisted of ClearPath Weather, a road maintenance application, and
ClearAg, a digital agriculture platform. ClearPath Weather is a web-based solution, which includes a suite of tools that apply data assimilation and modeling
technologies to assess historical weather conditions for both short-term and long-range weather forecasts and customizable route/site weather and pavement
forecasting, and providing winter road maintenance recommendations for state agencies, municipalities and commercial companies that allow such users to
create solutions to meet roadway maintenance decision needs. ClearAg combines weather and agronomic data with proprietary land-surface modeling and
analytics to solve complex agricultural problems and to increase the efficiency and sustainability of farmlands. ClearAg solutions are offered to companies in
the agriculture industry, such as seed and crop protection companies, integrated food companies, and agricultural equipment manufacturers and service
providers. ClearAg provides weather, environment, soil and plant growth modeling to deliver environmental intelligence through ClearAg APIs and
components, IMFocus APIs and ClearAg web applications.

        On May 5, 2020, pursuant to a Purchase Agreement the Company sold the assets of its Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, composed of its
ClearAg and ClearPath Weather product lines, to DTN, an operating company of TBG AG, a Swiss-based holding company. As a result of the sale, we no
longer operate in the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment. See Note 14 for further details on the sale of the Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment.

        The accounting policies of our reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (Note 1). Certain
corporate general and administrative expenses, including general overhead functions such as information systems, accounting, human resources, marketing,
compliance costs and certain administrative expenses, as well as interest and amortization of intangible assets, are not allocated to the segments. The reportable
segments are each managed separately because they manufacture and distribute distinct products or provide services with different processes. All reported
segment revenues are derived from external customers. Our Chief Executive Officer, who is our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), reviews financial
information at the operating segment level. Our CODM does not review assets by segment in his resource allocation, and therefore, assets by segment are not
disclosed below.
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12. Business Segments, Significant Customer and Geographic Information (Continued)

        Selected financial information for our reportable segments for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

        The following table reconciles total segment income to consolidated operating loss:

Significant Customer and Geographic Information

        No individual customer or government agency had a receivable balance greater than 10% of our total trade accounts receivable balances as of March 31,
2020 and March 31, 2019. One individual customer who is also a government agency had a receivable balance of 13% of our total trade accounts receivable
balance as of March 31, 2018.
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Roadway
Sensors  

Transportation
Systems  

Agriculture
and Weather

Analytics  Total  
  (In thousands)  
Year Ended March 31, 2020              
Product revenues  $ 49,082 $ 5,925 $ — $ 55,007 
Service revenues   288  52,108  6,714  59,110 

Total revenues   49,370  58,033  6,714  114,117 
Depreciation   200  330  77  607 
Segment income (loss)   7,787  10,556  (3,852)  14,491 
Year Ended March 31, 2019              
Product revenues   43,253  4,974  —  48,227 
Service revenues   239  44,841  5,816  50,896 

Total revenues   43,492  49,815  5,816  99,123 
Depreciation   233  195  103  531 
Segment income (loss)   7,011  5,907  (5,024)  7,894 
Year Ended March 31, 2018              
Product revenues   44,163  2,301  —  46,464 
Service revenues   194  52,180  4,891  57,265 

Total revenues   44,357  54,481  4,891  103,729 
Depreciation   221  204  109  534 
Segment income (loss)  $ 8,825 $ 8,639 $ (8,048) $ 9,416 

  Year Ended March 31,  
  2020  2019  2018  
  (In thousands)  
Segment income:           
Total income from reportable segments  $ 14,491 $ 7,894 $ 9,416 
Unallocated amounts:           

Corporate expenses   (19,710)  (15,578)  (14,930)
Amortization of intangible assets   (757)  (275)  (88)

Operating loss  $ (5,976) $ (7,959) $ (5,602)
 $ (5,976) $ (7,959) $ (5,602)
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        The following table sets forth the percentages of our revenues, by geographic region, derived from shipments to, or contract, service and other revenues
from, external customers located outside the U.S.:

        Substantially all of our long-lived assets are held in the U.S.

13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

14. Subsequent Events

Sale of Segment

        On May 2, 2020, Iteris, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, ClearAg, Inc. entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with
DTN, LLC ("DTN"), an operating company of TBG AG, a Swiss-based holding company. Under the Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to sell to DTN
the assets of the Company's Agriculture and Weather Analytics segment, composed of its ClearAg and ClearPath Weather product lines (the "Business"). The
transaction was completed by the parties and closed on May 5, 2020.

        Under the Purchase Agreement, the parties agreed, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, that DTN will
purchase and assume from the Company substantially all of the assets used in the conduct of the Business and certain specified liabilities of the
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Year Ended
March 31,  

  2020  2019  2018  
Canada   —%  —%  1%
Europe   —  1  1 

  —%  1%  2%

Quarter Ended:  Revenues  
Gross
Profit  

Net (Loss)
Income  

Basic Net
Income (Loss)

per Share  

Diluted Net
Income (Loss)

per Share  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
June 30, 2019  $ 26,607 $ 10,407 $ (1,572) $ (0.05) $ (0.05)
September 30, 2019   27,882  11,384  (2,187)  (0.05)  (0.05)
December 31, 2019   28,733  11,938  (2,068)  (0.05)  (0.05)
March 31, 2020   30,895  14,032  217  0.01  0.01 

 $ 114,117 $ 47,761 $ (5,610) $ (0.14)* $ (0.14)*
June 30, 2018  $ 25,475 $ 10,192 $ (1,579) $ (0.05) $ (0.05)
September 30, 2018   24,417  9,661  (1,341)  (0.04)  (0.04)
December 31, 2018   23,140  8,892  (2,464)  (0.07)  (0.07)
March 31, 2019   26,091  9,861  (2,432)  (0.07)  (0.07)

 $ 99,123 $ 38,606 $ (7,816) $ (0.23)* $ (0.23)*

* Annual per share amounts may not agree to the sum of the quarterly per share amounts due to differences between average shares
outstanding during the periods.
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14. Subsequent Events (Continued)

Business in exchange for a total purchase price of $12,000,000. Of that amount, $10,500,000 was paid at closing on May 5, 2020, and the balance of
$1,500,000 will be paid at the 12- and 18-month anniversaries of the closing date, subject to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement
relating to the transition of certain customers to DTN and the collection of certain receivables by DTN. The Purchase Agreement also provides for customary
post-closing adjustments to the purchase price tied to working capital balances of the Business at closing.

        The parties also entered into certain ancillary agreements at the closing of the transaction that will provide Iteris with ongoing access to weather and
pavement data that it integrates into its transportation software products, and a joint development agreement under which the parties agreed to pursue future
joint opportunities in the global transportation market.

        As of March 31, 2020, the Company determined that Agriculture and Weather Analytics did not meet the held for sale classification criteria under ASC
360, and as such, Agriculture and Weather Analytics assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2020, and the results of operations for all periods presented are not
classified as held for sale and are included in continuing operations in the consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

        None.

ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

        (a)    Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.    In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management evaluated, with the participation of our President and Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer,
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upon
their evaluation of these disclosure controls and procedures, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of the date of such evaluation in ensuring that information required to be
disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and
(2) accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

        (b)    Changes in internal control.    There was no significant change in our internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

        A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Further, the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of management override or improper acts, if any, have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the
control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control
system, misstatements due to management override, error or improper acts may occur and not be detected. Any resulting misstatement or loss may have an
adverse and material effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under
the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective
at a reasonable assurance level as of March 31, 2020.
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        The Company acquired AGI on June 13, 2019. Management excluded AGI from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of March 31, 2020. AGI's total assets excluded from this assessment was approximately $2.8 million, representing 3% of the Company's
consolidated total assets as of March 31, 2020, and AGI's total revenue of approximately $6.4 million represented 6% of the Company's consolidated revenue
for the year ended March 31, 2020.

        The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Iteris, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Iteris, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

        We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2020, of the Company and our report dated June 9, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company's adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, Leases, in the year
ended March 31, 2020.

        As described in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the internal control over
financial reporting for Albeck Gerken, Inc. ("AGI"), which was acquired on July 2, 2019, and whose financial statements constitute 3% of total assets, and 6%
of revenues, of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended March 31, 2020. Accordingly, our audit did not include the
internal control over financial reporting for AGI.

Basis for Opinion

        The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only
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in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Costa Mesa, CA
June 9, 2020
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ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION 

        None, except as reported in Part III, Item 11

PART III 

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

        The information required by Item 10 will be either (i) included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K ("the Form 10-K Amendment") or
(ii) incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
"2020 Proxy Statement") under the headings "Executive Compensation and Other Information—Executive Officers," "Election of Directors," "Corporate
Governance," and "Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports."

ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

        The information required by Item 11 will be either included in the Form 10-K Amendment or is incorporated by reference to our 2020 Proxy Statement
under the heading "Executive Compensation and Other Information" and "Election of Directors."

ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS 

        The information required by Item 12 will be either included in the Form 10-K Amendment or is incorporated by reference to our 2020 Proxy Statement
under the heading "Equity Compensation Plan Information" and "Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management."

ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

        The information required by Item 13 will be either included in the Form 10-K Amendment or is incorporated by reference to our 2020 Proxy Statement
under the heading "Corporate Governance, Board Meetings and Committees" and "Additional Matters—Certain Transactions."

ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

        The information required by Item 14 will be either included in the Form 10-K Amendment or is incorporated by reference to our 2020 Proxy Statement
under the heading "Matters Related to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm."
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PART IV 

ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) Documents filed as part of this report: 

1. Financial Statements.

        Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" under Part II, Item 8, of this Annual Report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

        All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is shown in our
consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits.

        The following table sets forth the exhibits either filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit Index 
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Exhibit
Number  Description  Reference

 2.1† Stock Purchase Agreement, dated June 10, 2019, by
and among Iteris, Inc., Albeck Gerken, Inc. and its
shareholders.

 Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on June 14, 2019

 2.2† Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 2, 2020, by
and among Iteris, Inc., ClearAg, Inc., and DTN,  LLC.

 Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on May 6, 2020

 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant
as filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on
October 12, 2018

 Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on October 15, 2018

 3.2 Restated Bylaws of the registrant, as amended through
August 6, 2018

 Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as filed with the SEC on August 7, 2018

 4.1 Description of Iteris, Inc. Securities Registered under
Section 12 of the Exchange Act

 Filed herewith

 4.2 Specimen of common stock certificate  Exhibit 4.1 to registrant's Registration Statement on
Form 8-A as filed with the SEC on December 8, 2004

 10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by
the registrant and certain of its officers and directors

 Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10- K for the year ended March 31, 2004 as
filed with the SEC on June 29, 2004

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465919035527/a19-11214_4ex2d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465920057416/tm2018790d1_ex2-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465918062062/a18-36701_1ex3d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465918050193/a18-17129_1ex3d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746904036510/a2148225zex-4_1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465904018476/a04-7432_1ex10d5.htm
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Exhibit
Number  Description  Reference

 10.2 Office Lease, dated May 24, 2007, by and between the
registrant and Realty Associates Fund X, L.P. (as the
successor to Crown Carnegie Associates, LLC)

 Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 as
filed with the SEC on August 14, 2007

 10.3 First Amendment to Lease, dated February 21, 2014,
by and between RREF II Freeway Acquisitions, LLC
and Iteris,  Inc.

 Exhibit 10.29 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2014 as filed
with the SEC on September 4, 2014.

 10.4 Second Amendment to Lease, dated September 29,
2014, by and between Realty Associates Fund X, L.P.
and Iteris,  Inc. (as the successor to Realty Associate
RREF II Freeway Acquisitions, LLC) and Iteris, Inc.

 Exhibit 10.5 to registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 as filed
with the SEC on June 6, 2019

 10.5 Third Amendment to Lease, dated December 15,
2016, by and between Realty Associates Fund X, L.P.
and Iteris,  Inc.

 Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 filed
with the SEC on June 6, 2019

 10.6* Iteris, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan  Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2018 as filed
with the SEC on June 7, 2018

 10.7* 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan  Exhibit 10.19 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012 as filed
with the SEC on June 11, 2012

 10.8* Forms of Stock Option Agreements under the 2007
Omnibus Incentive Plan

 Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012 as filed
with the SEC on June 11, 2012

 10.9* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan

 Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010 as
filed with the SEC on July 28, 2010

 10.10* Amended and Restated 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan  Exhibit 99.1 to registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-228210) as filed with the SEC
on November 6, 2018.

 10.11* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Issuance Agreement for
use with 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan

 Exhibit 99.2 to the registrant's Registration Statement
on Form S-8 (File No.333-216407) as filed with the
SEC on March 2, 2017

 10.12* Form of Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and
form of Stock Option Agreement for use with 2016
Omnibus Incentive Plan

 Exhibit 99.3 to the registrant's Registration Statement
on Form S-8 (File No.333-216407) as filed with the
SEC on March 2, 2017

 10.13 Amended and Restated Promissory Note, effective
July 23, 2013, by and between Maxxess Systems, Inc.
in favor of Iteris, Inc.

 Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 as
filed with the SEC on August 1, 2013

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465907062562/a07-21585_1ex10d2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746914007351/a2221256zex-10_29.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746919003522/a2238952zex-10_5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746919003522/a2238952zex-10_6.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746918004333/a2235930zex-10_4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465912042848/a12-5241_1ex10d19.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465912042848/a12-5241_1ex10d20.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465910039913/a10-14496_1ex10d3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465918066371/a18-39628_1ex99d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465917013539/a17-7310_1ex99d2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465917013539/a17-7310_1ex99d3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465913058926/a13-16124_1ex10d1.htm
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Exhibit
Number  Description  Reference

 10.14 First Amendment to Lease, dated February 21, 2014,
by and between RREF II Freeway Acquisitions, LLC
and Iteris,  Inc.

 Exhibit 10.29 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2014 as filed
with the SEC on September 4, 2014.

 10.15* Employment Agreement dated September 8, 2015
between Iteris, Inc. and Joe Bergera

 Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on September 22,
2015

 10.16 Employment Agreement, dated November 15, 2019,
between Iteris, Inc. and Douglas Groves

 Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on December 4, 2019

 10.17* Iteris, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive
Severance Plan

 Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 as filed
with the SEC on June 6, 2019

 10.18* Retention Bonus Agreement dated June 4, 2019
between Iteris, Inc. and James Chambers

 Exhibit 10.21 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 as filed
with the SEC on June 6, 2019

 10.19* Incentive Bonus Agreement dated June 4, 2019
between Iteris, Inc. and James Chambers

 Exhibit 10.22 to the registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 as filed
with the SEC on June 6, 2019

 10.20 Form of Retention Bonus Agreement entered into
between the Company and selling shareholders of
Albeck Gerken,  Inc.

 Exhibit 10.1 to registrant's Current Report on Form 8-
K as filed with the SEC on July 9, 2019

 10.21 Severance and Release Agreement, effective date
December 12, 2019, between Iteris, Inc. and Andrew
Schmidt

 Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on
December 27, 2019

 23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm, dated June 9, 2020

 Filed herewith

 24 Power of Attorney  Filed herewith (included on the Signature page)

 31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, as
required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 Filed herewith

 31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, as
required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 Filed herewith

 32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, as
required pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 Filed herewith

 32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, as
required pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 Filed herewith

 101.INS XBRL Instance Document  Filed herewith

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746914007351/a2221256zex-10_29.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465915066524/a15-20004_1ex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465919069749/a19-24431_1ex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746919003522/a2238952zex-10_20.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746919003522/a2238952zex-10_21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000104746919003522/a2238952zex-10_22.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465919039705/a19-12584_1ex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/350868/000110465919076237/tm1927349d1_ex10-1.htm
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ITEM 16.    FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

        None.
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Exhibit
Number  Description  Reference

 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  Filed herewith

 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

 Filed herewith

 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document

 Filed herewith

 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

 Filed herewith

 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Presentation Linkbase
Document

 Filed herewith

† Pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K, certain appendices to this agreement have been omitted. The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon its request, any or all of such omitted appendices. 

* Indicates a contract, compensatory plan or arrangement in which directors or executive officers of the registrant are eligible to
participate.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

        We, the undersigned officers and directors of Iteris, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint Joe Bergera and Douglas Groves, and each of them, our true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities,
to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby, ratifying and
confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
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Dated: June 9, 2020  ITERIS, INC.
(Registrant)

  By  /s/ JOE BERGERA

Joe Bergera
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Signature  Title  Date

     
/s/ JOE BERGERA

Joe Bergera
 Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)  June 9, 2020

/s/ DOUGLAS GROVES

Douglas Groves
 Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and

accounting officer)
 June 9, 2020

/s/ THOMAS L. THOMAS

Thomas L. Thomas
 Chairman of the Board  June 9, 2020

/s/ LAURA L. SIEGAL

Laura L. Siegal
 Director  June 9, 2020
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Signature  Title  Date

     
/s/ DENNIS W. ZANK

Dennis W. Zank
 Director  June 9, 2020

/s/ GERARD M. MOONEY

Gerard M. Mooney
 Director  June 9, 2020

/s/ SCOTT E. DEETER

Scott E. Deeter
 Director  June 9, 2020





Exhibit 4.1
 

DESCRIPTION OF ITERIS, INC. COMMON STOCK
 

The following description of Iteris, Inc.’s common stock is a summary.  This summary is subject to the General Corporation Law of Delaware (the
“DGCL”) and the complete text of Iteris, Inc.’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “certificate of incorporation”) and Restated Bylaws (the
“bylaws”) filed as Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2, respectively, to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part, and are incorporated by reference
herein.  We encourage you to read our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and the applicable provisions of the DGCL for additional information.
 
General
 

Our authorized capital stock consists of 70,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.10 par value per share, and 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
$1.00 par value per share. As of May 29, 2020, we had 40,732,994 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
 
Listing
 

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the trading symbol “ITI.”
 
Voting Rights
 

Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters to be voted on by the stockholders.  Holders of
our common stock are not entitled to cumulate their votes.
 
Dividends
 

Subject to limitations under applicable law and preferences that may apply to any outstanding shares of our preferred stock, holders of the common
stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by the Board out of funds legally available therefor.
 
Liquidation
 

In the event of the Company’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining
available for distribution to them after payment of liabilities and after provision has been made for any preferred stock having preference over the common
stock.  Holders of shares of common stock, as such, have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights, and there are no redemption provisions
applicable to the common stock.
 
Rights and Preferences
 

The common stock has no preemptive, conversion or other rights to subscribe for additional securities. There are no redemption or sinking fund
provisions applicable to our common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.
 
Fully Paid and Nonassessable
 

All outstanding shares of our common stock are, and all shares of common stock to be outstanding upon completion of the offering will be, validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar
 

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Inc.
 
Certain Anti-Takeover Effects

 

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. This statute regulating corporate takeovers prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any
business combination with any interested stockholder for three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:
 

·                 prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction
which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
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·                 the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced,

excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (a) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers
and (b) shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether
shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

·                 on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board and authorized at an annual or special
meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is
not owned by the interested stockholder.

 
Section 203 defines a business combination to include:

 

·                 any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
·                 any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation;
·                 subject to exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the

interested stockholder; or
·                 the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by

or through the corporation.
 

In general, Section 203 defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of
the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by the entity or person.
 
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions
 

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a
third party from attempting to acquire, control of our company by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions may also make
the removal of incumbent officers and directors more difficult. These provisions are intended to discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and
inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of Iteris to first negotiate with us. These provisions could also limit the price
that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. These provisions may make it more difficult for stockholders to take
specific corporate actions and could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our control. In particular, our certificate of incorporation and
bylaws provide for the following:
 

Special Meetings of Stockholders.
 

Special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board of directors, our president, a majority of the members of the
board of directors, or by one or more stockholders holding shares in the aggregate entitled to cast not less than 10% of the votes at the special
meeting.

 
Advance Notice Requirement.

 
Stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of our stockholders must comply with advance notice procedures. These advance

notice procedures require timely notice and apply in several situations, including stockholder proposals and nominations of persons for election to the
board of directors. Generally, to be timely, notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days
prior to the first anniversary date of the annual meeting for the preceding year.

 
Amendment of Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation.

 
The approval of not less than 66 2/3% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote is required to amend provisions of our bylaws

discussed above under “Advance Notice Requirement”. This provisions could make it more difficult to circumvent the anti-takeover provisions of
our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws.
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Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock.

 
Our board of directors is authorized to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 2,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock

with rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by the board of directors. We currently have 100,000 shares of
preferred stock designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. As of March 31, 2020, we did not have any shares of preferred stock
outstanding. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock enables our board of directors to render more difficult or to
discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise.

 
Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors
 

As permitted by Section 102 of the DGCL, we have adopted provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that limit or eliminate the
personal liability of our directors for a breach of their fiduciary duty of care as a director. The duty of care generally requires that, when acting on behalf of
the corporation, directors exercise an informed business judgment based on all material information reasonably available to them. Consequently, a director
will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages or breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability for:
 

·             any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;
·             any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
·             pursuant to Section 174 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware; or
·             any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

 
These limitations of liability do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission. Our certificate of incorporation

also authorizes us to indemnify our officers, directors and other agents to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law.
 

As permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our bylaws provide that:
 

·             we may indemnify our directors, officers, and employees to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, subject to limited exceptions;
·             we may advance expenses to our directors, officers and employees in connection with a legal proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by the

DGCL, subject to limited exceptions; and
·             the rights provided in our bylaws are not exclusive.

 
We have entered, and intend to continue to enter, into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers which may be broader
than the specific indemnification provisions contained in the DGCL. These indemnification agreements may require us, among other things, to indemnify
our officers and directors against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from
willful misconduct. These indemnification agreements also may require us to advance any expenses incurred by the directors or officers as a result of any
proceeding against them as to which they could be indemnified. We have also purchased a policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance that insures
our directors and officers against the cost of defense, settlement or payment of a judgment in some circumstances.
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Exhibit 23
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-228210, 333-221790, 333-216407, 333-190309, 333-162807 and 333-
146459 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-235699 and 333-220305 on Form S-3 of our reports dated June 9, 2020, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Iteris, Inc. and subsidiaries (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph
relating to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update ASU 2016-02, Leases), and the effectiveness of Iteris, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over
financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Iteris, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2020.
 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
 
Costa Mesa, California
 
June 9, 2020
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Joe Bergera, certify that:
 

1.                                      I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Iteris, Inc.;
 

2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
 

3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)                                 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)                                 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: June 9, 2020

 
 

/s/ JOE BERGERA
 

Joe Bergera
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

(Principal Executive Officer)
 

5



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Douglas L. Groves, certify that:
 

1.                                      I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Iteris, Inc.;
 

2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
 

3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)                                 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)                                 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: June 9, 2020
 
 

/s/ DOUGLAS L. GROVES
 

Douglas L. Groves
 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Iteris, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Joe Bergera, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

1.                                      The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

2.                                      The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

 
Date: June 9, 2020

 
 

/s/ JOE BERGERA
 

Joe Bergera
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or any other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Iteris, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Douglas L. Groves, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

1.                                      The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

2.                                      The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

 
Date: June 9, 2020
 
 

/s/ DOUGLAS L. GROVES
 

Douglas L. Groves
 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or any other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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